Materials and Applications for Large Area Electronics: Solution-Based Approaches

Ana Claudia Arias*

Palo Alto Research Center, 3333 Coyote Hill Road, Palo Alto, California 94304

J. Devin MacKenzie

Add-Vision Inc., 1600 Green Hills Road, Suite 100, Scotts Valley, California 95066

Iain McCulloch

Imperial College London Exhibition Road, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

Jonathan Rivnay and Alberto Salleo

Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, California 94305

Received April 12, 2009

Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Large Area Electronics Applications	5
2.1. Displays and Lighting	5
2.2. Solution-Processed and Printed Large Area Photovoltaics	8
2.3. Medical Devices and Sensors	9
2.4. Radio Frequency Applications	10
3. Materials	12
3.1. Organic Electronics Materials	12
3.2. Semiconducting Polymer Design	13
3.3. Poly(3-alkylthiophenes)	14
3.4. Poly(thieno(3,2-b)thiophenes	15
3.5. Benchmark Polymer Semiconductors	15
3.6. High Performance Polymer Semiconductors	15
4. Device Stability	16
4.1. Bias Stress in Organic Transistors	17
4.1.1. Bias Stress Characterization	17
4.1.2. Bias Stress Mechanism	18
4.2. Short Channel Effects in Organic Transistors	19
5. Materials Patterning and Integration	20
6. Conclusions	22
7. Acknowledgments	22
8. References	22

1. Introduction

In its most compelling forms, large area electronics addresses a range of applications outside those where monocrystalline Si and III–V integration are used, or it approaches those conventional applications with a uniquely advantageous performance benefit. Historically, much of the initial work in large area electronics has centered on displays

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: ana.arias@ parc.com.



Ana Claudia Arias is currently the Manager of the Printed Electronic Devices Area and a Member of Research Staff at PARC Inc. (Palo Alto Research Center), Palo Alto, CA. At PARC she uses inkjet printing techniques to fabricate organic active matrix display backplanes for paperlike displays and flexible sensors. She came to PARC from Plastic Logic in Cambridge, UK, where she led the semiconductor group. She did her Ph.D. on semiconducting polymer blends for photovoltaic devices at the University of Cambridge, UK. Prior to that, she received her master and bachelor degrees in Physics from the Federal University of Paraná in Curitiba, Brazil. Her research work in Brazil focused on the use of semiconducting polymers for light-emitting diodes.

and photovoltaics, as these are fundamentally area-intensive applications. However, over the last two decades, and especially in the last 10 years, the scope of applications envisioned for large area electronics has expanded dramatically. This research development area presently includes medical, wireless, sensing, flexible, and ultrathin applications. In some cases, new applications and device approaches, such as medical imaging arrays and flexible active matrix displays, have been a direct extension of previously developed amorphous silicon (a-Si) thin film transistor (TFT) active matrix backplanes for liquid crystal displays.^{1.2} In other cases, new concepts have emerged such as integrated sensor technologies, printed radio frequency identification (RFID),



Dr. MacKenzie is currently the Chief Technology officer of Add-Vision, where he leads the R&D activities as well as technology transfer to AVI's partners and licensees. This work has led to a more than 100-fold increase in device performance, substantial improvements in device yield and manufacturability, successful joint development agreements with Alps and Toppan Forms, and funded research grants from the Department of Energy, the National Science Foundation, and the Department of Defense. Devin has been working in research, development, and commercialization of organic electronics and nanotechnology for over 12 years with over 120 published articles and patents in the fields of organic LEDs, photovoltaics, polymer transistors, thin film Si, RFID, nanotechnology, and III-V materials. He was a research associate and visiting scientist in Prof. Sir Richard Friend's group at the University of Cambridge, and was a cofounder of Plastic Logic, a UK-based world-leader in printed polymer TFT electronics. Since returning to the U.S., he led printed GHz RF device and applications work at Kovio, an MIT Media-Lab spin out, and contributed to standards, education, and roadmaps for IEEE, MRS, and the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors. He regularly organizes symposia and gives seminars, tutorials, and reviews on the fields of organic and printed electronics. Devin has also acted as consultant, IP contributor, and advisor for a number of technology companies including Add-Vision, Carbon Valley, CDT, Kovio, KPCB, and Konarka. He received his doctorate, master's, and undergraduate degrees in Materials Science and Engineering at the University of Florida and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and was a researcher at Bell Laboratories.



lain McCulloch is Professor of Polymer Materials in the Department of Chemistry at Imperial College London, and cofounder of Flexink Ltd. His research interests are in the design, synthesis, and application of conjugated materials for optical and electronic applications. He obtained a Ph.D. in Polymer Chemistry in 1989 at the University of Strathclyde, UK, then joined the research department of Hoechst Celanese Corp., engaged in the research of novel functional polymers for nonlinear optics, lithography, and drug delivery. Before joining Imperial, he was a Research Manager at Merck Chemicals, UK, from 2000 to 2007, responsible for novel solution processable organic semiconductor materials for application in organic field effect transistors and photovoltaic devices. He has edited one book, is coinventor on over 50 patents, and coauthor of over 100 papers and four book chapters.

and light-emissive flexible displays.³ Of these applications, some have precursors in printed circuit board technology,



Jonathan Rivnay is a doctoral candidate in the Department of Materials Science and Engineering at Stanford University. He received his B.S. in Materials Science from Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, in 2006. His current research interests include structure transport relations and spectroscopy of organic semiconductors. Jonathan is the recipient of a National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate (NDSEG) Fellowship.



Alberto Salleo received a Laurea degree in Chemistry from the University of Rome (1994) and a Ph.D. in Materials Science from UC Berkeley (2001) conducting research at the National Ignition Facility. He spent 4 years at the Palo Alto Research Center before joining the Materials Science Department at Stanford University in December 2005. Prof. Salleo's research is centered around large area electronics. His interests are in charge transport and microstructure in polymeric semiconductors (for which he received an NSF Career Award and a 3M Untenured Faculty Award), nanostructured transparent conductors, and laser processing of materials.

integrated passive devices, and electroluminescent phosphor technologies. For others, it has been the development of broad, ubiquitous consumer product platforms and the general explosion of digital information available that have driven interest in thinner, more robust, and cheaper electronics capable of interacting with their environment on the macroscale.

For the purpose of this Review, large area electronics connotes either large device dimensions, significantly greater than current focus of conventional semiconductor technologies, and overall integrated devices or device arrays of tens of centimeters or even tens of meters. This is in contrast to the area-minimized, highly integrated Si chips of modern CMOS technology with extraordinary device densities and sizes from centimeters (PC microprocessors) containing as many as a billion transistors per chip, down to submillimeter, monolithic integrated circuits (RFID chips). The special challenge for large area electronics is to add high functionality to enable larger area electronics applications while limiting costs to deposit and pattern this functionality over large distances.

Table 1. Cost of Patterning Information over Larger Areas

technology	patterning	cost per bit	cost/area [\$/cm2]
newspaper	offset	$\begin{array}{c} \$2 \times 10^{-10} \\ \$5 \times 10^{-9} \\ \$3 \times 10^{-10} \\ \$1 \times 10^{-11} \end{array}$	0.00001
consumer	inkjet		0.0001
a-Si TFT	3 μm lithography		0.03
MOS Si	<0.1 μm lithography		3.0

It is important to consider the relative costs of patterning information over such large areas to understand the alternative routes different groups have taken to produce larger area electronics.^{1,4–12} Conventional graphics printing can produce large area patterning at very low costs: <10 μ cents/cm² and fractions of a "nanocent" per bit of printed information. In contrast, conventional thin film and wafer-based microelectronics can integrate functionality at similar or even lower costs per patterned feature at much higher resolutions in complex, highly engineered materials. However, the cost per unit area is typically much higher for conventional electronics patterning, which derives from the ability to miniaturize that has driven cost reduction in those industries. This comparison can be seen in Table 1.

To meet the manufacturing needs for larger area electronics, numerous industrial and academic groups have endeavored, in recent years, to provide microelectronic functionality over larger areas.^{13–19} It has been shown that printing can be applied to larger area electronics manufacture at various scales.^{4–6,9,20,21} However, it will be a balance of costs and high functionality that will be required to make large area electronics ubiquitous in application areas spanning wireless technology, information display, energy, electronic/human interactivity, defense, and health.

In this Review, we analyze in detail the performance requirements of several large area electronics applications to capture what is needed from new materials. We review progress on efforts to create a new manufacturing industry for large area electronics by integrating printing technologies with solution-processed electronic materials. Solutionprocessed oxides and carbon nanotubes have been widely used in large area in the past 5 years. In this Review, however, we will concentrate on the synthesis, processing, and device performance of polymeric semiconductors.

2. Large Area Electronics Applications

In this section of the Review, we will discuss several examples that have been chosen to represent the key elements of the field. Table 2 lists some examples of the many large area electronics applications. For all of these applications, there are a range of required device and materials specifications that must be met to satisfy different applications requirements. These include critical dimensions, optoelectronic responses, and intrinsic materials and interface parameters.

2.1. Displays and Lighting

It is perhaps displays that capture the essence of large area applications most tangibly. They are large, visible, and present in ever-increasing sizes in consumer and public information display settings. Over the last several years, commonly available flat panel displays have scaled from laptop 14" diagonal screens to 40" and even >100" home theater LCD displays. Because of its commercial success and technology development rate, this industry stands as fierce competition to and an important learning model for the development of other large area semiconductor electronics applications. Furthermore, the active matrix liquid crystal displays (AMLCD) industry's ability to show cost reduction, process size scaling to \gg m² substrate areas, and maintenance of high yields with micrometer-scale features is impressive. This is a testament to the ability of a conventional, technology-driven industry's ability to evolve and improve when driven by multiple, large market demands. Conventional Si microelectronics' greatest strength has been its ability to scale device dimensions down and device densities exponentially higher, leading to low cost/function even though the cost/ area can be relatively high. This is a unique feature of the evolution of the Si semiconductor industry in which process cost per unit area rises with increasing technology integration, even though cost per transistor still drops due to the even more aggressive device density scaling (ULSI integration below 50 nm can exceed 10^{14} devices/m²). This scaling, famously tracked in time by Moore's Law,²² has fueled monolithically integrated Si's diffusion into almost every aspect of commercial and daily activity. It is not uncommon for Moore's law to be cited incompletely, by referring to it as simply the doubling of transistors per integrated circuit every year (later modified to every 2 years). In fact, the original analysis by Moore was centered on the trend that the density of transistors at which cost per transistor was lowest would double every year. It is interesting that device density and area were just as much on Moore's mind then as it is now a concern for developers of large area electronics. However, Moore was observing Si miniaturization. For displays, this trajectory is much different. In AMLCD, it is overall display size that grows rapidly, and ultimately cost per m² of display that drops exponentially with new display generations as shown in Figure 1. Consider that the total device count for an AMLCD TV, typically greater than 4 M thin film transistors (TFTs) per display, is constant across increasing displays sizes. An HD 32" TV contains the same number of TFT-controlled pixels as a 50" HD TV does, but each pixel is more than twice as large. As TVs scale beyond 50", the size of a single pixel approaches 1 mm in size. In other, even larger-scale electronic display applications, such as large public information signage or advertising, devices densities of <1 device/cm² are easily imaginable.

In AMLCD, substrate cost has scaled up dramatically, driven, in part, by the increase in display sizes and therefore the greater number of displays that a single substrate can yield. Also, despite high tool costs and the challenging engineering of depositions, lithography, and patterning over several square meter substrate areas, the cost per square meter of display backplanes has dropped at a rate of nearly 20% per generation. Conventional photolithography-based AM-LCD is on track to extend to areas approaching 100 ft² substrates (Gen 10) with expected yields that have not been matched by print-based deposition techniques.

There has also been interest in pursuing novel deposition and patterning approaches to compete with or extend thin film fabrication for large area thin film semiconductor devices, and there is a theoretical case for this. As displays increase in size, the device density decreases and device placement also becomes very sparse. In this case, conventional blanket coating techniques followed by photolithography and etch are relatively inefficient in term of materials utilization and waste. There has been growing interest in novel approaches to materials deposition to increase efficiency at larger substrate areas. In the case of large area

Table 2. Examples of Large Area Electronic Applications

information displays	large reflective displays for public information and advertising based on electrophoreticmedia and larger area AMTFT backplanes		
medical imaging	medical imaging arrays based on AMTFT addressed photodetectors.		
lighting	OLED solid-state lighting for general and large venue illumination using large area, low-cost processing OLED displays for backlighting and advertising with large area, tin and flexible form factors		
solar energy	thin film inorganic and organic photovoltaics		
RF tags	RF identification tags with direct antenna integration and or reduced assembly costs RF sensor networks utilizing larger area sensor and/or antenna integration		
military	military personnel and vehicle identify friend or foe indicators for nighttime identification using flexible OLED emitters larger area map displays including emissive, reflective, or semitransparent functionality flexible/conformal AMTFT reflective adaptive camouflage based on electrophoreticmedia		
sensors	biochemical test matrix arrays (sensor elements and/or data addressing such as AMTFT) flexible large area sensors with integrated amplification and signal processing flexible biomedical sensors and electronics for direct body contact large pressure sensor arrays for article presence and article shape identification integrated sensing and control for integrated micro fluidics for biochemical analysis, sequencing, and micro synthesis		

AMLCD, these efforts have focused on non-TFT materials such as color filter processing, polyimide deposition, and other areas.^{23,24}

In new display types, such as AMOLED (active matrix organic light-emitting diode) displays, where the novel emitter materials cost can be very high, the potential benefits of local deposition techniques has driven considerable development by Epson,^{25,26} Philips,⁷ Cambridge Display Technology,²⁷Dupont,²⁸ 3M,²⁹ Samsung,³⁰ Sony,³¹ and others. However, there still exists a fundamental gap between the

error rates and reliability issues obtained with very high accuracy print deposition and the stringent requirements of high yield displays processing (<1 ppm). This gap also extends to novel approaches for organic TFT deposition where many of the initial innovators in this area, including Plastic Logic and Philips/Polymer-Vision,³² are currently resorting to large amounts of semiconventional processing as they work to reach acceptable manufacturing yields at introductory substrate sizes. However, the theoretical materials utilization advantages still exist for novel, local deposition



Figure 1. The top diagrams show the scaling of substrate glass sizes used in successive generations of active matrix liquid crystal display processing. The bottom table summarizes the cost structure and generation-to-generation reductions in cost/area.



Figure 2. (a) Optical micrograph of a TFT backplane fabricated using a hybrid process where the polymer semiconductors, PQT-12, is printed and all other layers are patterned and deposited by conventional methods. (b) Image displayed by hybrid backplane when laminated with electrophoretic media from E-ink.

approaches to large area display fabrication, and many groups continue to develop materials and printing technologies to improve yield and performance.

An alternate approach for emerging large area electronics applications in displays may be to not attempt to compete with AMLCD processing in the near to midterm, but instead to focus on areas where unique value can be brought with new large area electronics processes and materials. Instead, the greatest opportunity may be to look ahead many generations to very large area display applications or in areas not competitive with current AMLCD products and that also bring some other functionality. This functionality might include flexibility, robustness in very thin form factors or ability to conform to nonplanar surfaces. Along with this very aggressive size scaling, yield issues will need to be addressed through further print or other novel process improvement, fault tolerant device and matrix designs, and testing and defect repair approaches relevant for very large area processing. Also, long-term research and development in this area should focus on the weakest links in conventional processes where print processing may also be easiest to integrate. In most current AMTFT processes, the single biggest cost, considering depreciated processing tool costs and materials costs, is typically the thin film Si deposition by CVD. Furthermore, the alignment and thickness tolerances on the semiconductor island in a large area display pixel structure can be relatively less stringent as compared to channel length definition, gate electrode placement, or OLED emitter layer thickness. Hybrid printed semiconductor approaches such as Kovio's solution-based Si,^{33,34} or PARC and Polymer Vision's hybrid processes where conventional inorganic and organic processes are combined, may be interesting when extended to large areas.^{5,32} In these cases, the ability to make best use of the local dispensing and materials costs savings possible with printed organics becomes attractive. A similar hybrid approach, combining printing and conventional materials deposition and etching, has also been explored by AMLCD manufacturers.³⁵ In Figure 2a, an optical micrograph of a hybrid TFT array is shown. The metal electrodes and bus lines are defined by photolithography, whereas the semiconductor (PQT-12) is printed from solution via inkjet printing.⁵ The channel length is 10 μ m, the gate dielectric is a double layer of silicon nitride and silicon oxide (deposited by PECVD), and the average TFT mobility is 0.06 cm²/(V·s). The pixel size is 300 μ m in a 160×180 pixel array. Figure 2b is photography of a display formed by integrating the hybrid printed backplane with electrophoretic display media from E-ink.

In the future roadmap for very large area displays, there are also new performance challenges. Consider that, as pixel



Figure 3. Relationship between pixel dimensions and display diagonal size, as the display sizes grow to current consumer TV sizes and beyond. Pixel areas become macroscopic at these large display sizes, approaching 1 mm² per pixel.

sizes increase above the square-millimeter dimension (see Figure 3), the pixel capacitance and leakage scale as the area of that pixel. This increase in pixel charging requirements for LCD or other reflective displays requires a corresponding quadratic increase in drive current delivered by the TFT. However, the current delivered by a TFT scales linearly with size. This means that higher TFT mobility (>1 cm²/(V•s)) and/or low capacitance, short channel designs able to be implemented over very large areas will be required for very large LCD and reflective-type displays.

Higher TFT mobility and on-currents would also enable increased on-panel driver integration, which is another key improvement for large area and flexible AMTFT display designs. As display and interconnect length increase, the ability to perform gate row line multiplexing, panel column data drive, and more advanced display data processing is desired. Ultimately, the ability to fully integrate all driver circuitry on the display substrate is of interest, especially in the case of truly flexible and thin form factor displays where the external interconnects or the presence of mounted conventional components may also be less desirable.³⁶

Typically, effective mobility of order 1 cm²/(V•s) or higher is needed for this type of circuitry. The current in these interconnects scales with the growing pixel capacitances and required drive currents. At some critical point, concepts such as die-per-pixel drivers based on single crystal Si CMOS, such as those originally pursued by Alien Technologies^{37,38} and others for smaller displays, may also be competitive. It should be noted that even for electrophoretic-type displays current demands and TFT performance will increase. Although it has been shown that small, long refresh cycle e-paper type AMTFT display can be driven with mobility of $\sim 10^{-2}$ cm²/(V•s), larger pixel sizes, improved gray level control, and, of course, color capability will increase mobility demands toward those required for LCD.^{4,6,39,40}

For novel emissive displays, such as OLED displays, the current driving requirements are extreme. Issues related to differential degradation and higher current demands for specific AMOLED colors, such as blue, put further demands on the active matrix array. Even at small sizes, stress-stable current delivery to drive OLED pixels is a challenge for amorphous silicon-based TFT technology. In contrast to AMLCD where the pixel TFTs essentially set voltages at each pixel and capacitive switching currents are of short, transient duration, AMOLEDs require continuous delivery of current to emitting OLEDs at each pixel. Unfortunately,



Figure 4. (a) Electrophoretic high-resolution flexible display driven by polysilicon active matrix and integrated driver circuitry (Seiko Epson). (b) A flexible polysilicon TFT array on stainless steel substrates for AMOLED drive (PARC).

amorphous silicon TFTs are susceptible to bias stress effects under sustained current drive.⁴¹ This bias stress effect cause to threshold voltage shifts and resulting performance degradation. This leads to overall display performance degradation but also differential aging behavior for pixel of different color and utilization rates. There are circuit means to accommodate for this, and further progress in OLED efficiencies can reduce this effect. However, it remains a significant issue for long lifetime amorphous silicon (a-Si) AMOLED applications.

Commonly, polysilicon TFT technology is used for AMOLED as the higher carrier mobilities of polysilicon as compared to a-Si, and increased stability of polysilicon-based devices under bias stress, are more effective in AMOLED. However, polysilicon is typically more expensive to produce and suffers from performance variations across the TFT glass associated with the recrystallization process.¹ Polysilicon is typically produced by laser recrystallization of a-Si thin films on glass. For top emission OLED devices, there is the prospect of high temperature substrates that would allow for more uniform thermal recrystallization approaches, such as semi flexible steel.

Seiko Epson and PARC have demonstrated prototypes employing some of these novel concepts applicable to high performance thin film Si-based flexible active matrix displays.^{42,43} Examples of this are shown in Figure 4a and b where photographs of a flexible high-resolution e-paper and a flexible poly silicon TFT backplane for OLEDs are displayed. Seiko Epson used a Si lift-off process to integrate the array electronics on plastic and fabricate displays, while PARC processed polysilicon TFT arrays directly on steel substrates.

Other applications of OLEDs, such as solid-state lighting, backlighting, and large area, lower information content displays, also represent future opportunities in large area electronics. In the case of general illumination, high luminance efficiency and lifetime requirements lead to a balance of performance, cost, and area. This, in turn, is balanced against the cost pressure from fluorescent lighting and emerging LED products to create a need for very low-cost, large area processing with high yield. Consider that larger area planar ~ 100 nm critical dimension diode technology is particularly sensitive to shorting and nonuniformities originating from process and materials defects. This includes deposited layer defects, particulates, and substrate defects. However, the growing efficiencies and lifetime for OLEDs, now exceeding 100 lm/W in laboratory demonstrations, show that the opportunity exists if the manufacturing challenges can be met.

Figure 5. (a) Web-based processing of OLEDs for illumination as demonstrated by GE, and (b) Web or sheet-printable, air-stable OLED printing process demonstrated by Add-Vision.

Because of a need for robustness, thinness, and low cost, some efforts have turned to web coating and printing operations as a potential large area manufacturing solution.⁴⁴ Such large area techniques have also been applied to backlighting and low information content displays. In this, manufacturing simplicity, materials utilization, and flexible encapsulation processing are critical.⁴⁵ Examples of process research and development for large area low-cost OLEDs, including web-based demonstrations from General Electric⁴⁶ as well as the air cathode printing step used in Add-Vision's all air printed, flexible OLED process, are shown in Figure 5.⁴⁵

2.2. Solution-Processed and Printed Large Area Photovoltaics

Many of the challenges for large area displays are shared by large area photovoltaics. Solar energy harvesting is intrinsically an area-related technology due to the finite flux of solar radiation available for collection and the efficiency limits of cell technology. In the case of thin film photovoltaics technologies, the area requirements and cost/area limits are all the more stringent, due to the lower efficiency observed in thin film cells (<8% for typical a-Si cells and \sim 5% for web-processable organic photovoltaics). These efficiencies dictate the need for larger collection areas to deliver the same absolute power. For example, to produce 100 W of power, thin film panels of $1-2 \text{ m}^2$ in area would be required. In addition to the need for high uniformity, high throughput coating of large areas of active semiconductor absorbers, which is similar to the process challenged facing large area OLEDs for lighting, there is also a need for improved interconnect technologies. Because of the larger areas involved and a desire to minimize resistive energy losses, very low sheet resistance gridlines and interconnects, which collect charge from the cell and transport it off the cell face with minimal loss and shadowing, are required. Typically, the conductors required to achieve these goals are too thick to be deposited by evaporation or sputtering in reasonable process times. Therefore, high thickness patterned deposition techniques such as screen printing of Ag or Al pastes are often used.

Higher efficiency thin film cells, such as those based on II–VI and chalcogenide active semiconductor thin film materials, do exist and are being pursued by First Solar, Miasole, Heliovolt, Global Solar, and others. Of those, Heliovolt and Nanosolar are investigating printing and solution-based approaches to CuInSe₂-based thin film photovoltaics.⁴⁷ These approaches raise the possibility of achieving the high efficiencies associated with inorganic CIGS technology but with a substantially lower cost due to the novel process approach. This combination of high efficiency and low cost could lead to better cost/Watt metrics, which is central to the success of thin film photovoltaics.



Figure 6. (a) Printed disposable blast dosimeter used to monitor events that may cause traumatic brain injury. Sensors are integrated with printed electronics and printed nonvolatile memory. (b) Direct, on-patient blood chemistry sensor concept enabled by large area, low-cost, flexible electronics.

In these cases, it is often the uniformity, stoichiometry, and multiphase homogeneity of the semiconductor active layer that represent the greatest challenges for large area scale-up of higher performing panels along with the need for a low-cost, robust encapsulation technology.⁴⁸ These parameters, in turn, directly impact yield and final cost as well as actual cell efficiency in large area and volume.

2.3. Medical Devices and Sensors

Many electronically enabled medical devices also must work at the human/electronics interface, which can be at the macroscopic length scales. This is similar to the case of displays and the nature of human vision. Interestingly, one of the first biomedical applications of large area TFT electronics in medical sensing was the X-ray image sensor array.^{1,49} This array is similar to an AMLCD type TFT array except that it is an input device and does not individually address a pixelated display medium with a programmed electric field. Instead, each TFT-addressed pixel in an X-ray image sensor array is a photodiode, sensitized with a phosphor which is excited by X-rays, and is read out to scan an image.¹ The benefit of this was to replace the slow, conventional film-based X-ray process with an instantly digitized X-ray image. In this case, the large area device challenge is to realize femtoamp leakage currents and MOhm-scale on-resistances for very high-resolution TFTs.⁵⁰ The ability to have nonplanar or flexible large area arrays would allow for better signal collection around the human body with better image quality and lower X-ray doses.^{19,51} Organic semiconductors are currently been used in the TFT backplane and as a photodiode in image arrays. Strain and bending studies of flexible image sensors have shown that the failure limits of organic photodiodes exceed those of a-Si.¹⁹ However, there is also the possibility that Si CMOS technology and novel transfer processes can be combined to extend conventional Si devices into large area imaging and conformal form factors. 52

Conformal electronics can find application in direct human sensing such as body-attached blood chemistry sensing (pulse, oxygenation, etc.). Conventional approaches to onbody pulse oximetry, for example, integrate rigid semiconductor light sources and detectors with wire attachments into clamps or bands. The cost, flexibility, and area sensitivity of the devices could be improved with large area optical sources and detectors.⁵³ The conventional semiconductor versions of such sensors are relatively inefficient in terms of costs and manufacturing effort investment considering that these devices, which may be able to operate for many years, are often used for relatively short periods of time and disposed of. Indeed, sterilization and reuse carry the potential drawbacks of higher costs/and or cross-contamination risks. In this sense, the conventional devices are a mismatch in terms of lifetime specification and cost. Lower cost, large area versions of these electronic products could supply better functionality in terms of flexibility, thinness, and sensitivity. In Figure 6 is shown a diagram of a noninvasive, flexible blood diagnostic application along with a diagram of a printed disposable blast dosimeter. PARC is developing a printed blast dosimeter to monitor exposure to high overpressure and acceleration that may cause traumatic brain injury. This device is designed to be used for 7 days when the data will be collected and kept as part of a person medical's history. The design includes pressure, acceleration, acoustic, and light sensors that are integrated with printed amplifiers and printed nonvolatile memory. The fact that the large area electronic devices' operating lifetimes may be shorter, which is often a challenge for emerging organic and novel thin film electronics, is not a drawback in this short product use cycle application. The use of flexible large area organic electronics in health care can also be extended to therapy enhancements such as large area emitters for photodynamic therapy.⁵⁴



Figure 7. (a) A scaled diagram showing the relationship between UHF signal wavelength, read range, and antennae size for passive RF tag or card applications. Note that the polar antenna is of length scale similar to that of the frequency wavelength (33 cm) and reception is done in the far field through interaction with a propagating wave. (b) A similar diagram for HF 13.56 MHz operation. Note that in this case the HF coil is much smaller than the carrier wavelength and range is within the near field of the carrier signal. In this case, the area distributed RF coil that communicates with the reader interacts with an essentially homogeneous magnetic field.

There are also applications for new large area electronics approaches based on the unique optoelectronic properties of new thin film organic semiconductors in a broader range of chemical sensing electronics. Molecular Vision⁵⁵ and the contributing academic groups at Imperial College are trying to exploit microscale chemiluminescence, optical detection, and fluidic integration for new biochemical sensing applications. In one embodiment, this integrated detection system draws on the development of organic blend photodiodes based on poly(3-hexylthiophene) and [6,6]-phenyl-C61butyric acid-methylester (PCBM), a technology that was originally developed for photovoltaic applications. The greatest future potential for sensing applications in medicine and elsewhere may lie in the direct integration of chemical sensitivity into large area device structures and materials. An example of this has been pursued by researchers at UC Berkeley where they seek to develop low-cost, high sensitivity gas sensor arrays by incorporating integrated sets of materials with complementary responses with sensory functional groups directly incorporated into the active device molecules.⁵⁶ We should also look forward to advanced large area sensing applications, which incorporate sensing and addressing electronics over large areas in highly integrated ways to further extend the human electronics interface.^{10,11}

2.4. Radio Frequency Applications

In radio frequency (RF) wireless applications, the need for large area, self-powered, or maximized range device is partially driven by the fundamental physics of the frequency regimes in which they operate.⁵⁷ The governmentally controlled RF field strengths in the high frequency (HF) inductive coupling range specify the maximum energy densities available for harvesting. The HF range covers the frequency space from 3 to 30 MHz, but the primary frequency of interest for many RFID systems in this region

is near 13.56 MHz due to the high carrier signal powers allowed around this frequency by regional emission regulations.⁵⁷ This puts constraints on how small an effective passive RF device can be to operate effectively in the HF range. In this context, "passive" means that the device is powered from the field itself and has no other power source. This is in contrast to "active" systems, which contain an integrated power source. Because of issues of cost and form factor, passive operation is highly desirable in applications like radio frequency identification (RFID) tags where tag cost targets are very low (<\$0.05). An RFID "tag" includes an RF physical interface (i.e., antennae or coil) coupled to an RF front-end, which allows for energy harvesting and signal encoding and/or decoding between the tag and reader system that powers the tag and relays tag information to other databases or hardware. The tag also contains onboard logic circuitry, timing, and memory to enable the tag to perform its function, for example, identifying a particular item on a wharehouse pallet without contact or optical sighting. The need for large area electronics also extends to higher frequency and longer range RF frequencies where antennae length-scales need to correspond to the wavelengths of the microwave and UHF radio spectrum (typically 900 MHz and higher) and antennae dimensions are on the order of centimeters or more.

More specifically, at 13.56 MHz, a typical high frequency (HF) wireless operating frequency, inductor coil sizes on the order of square inches are required to harvest energy in the near field (see Figure 7a). This coil area requirement is also a function of the government regulated maximum RF fields at levels sufficient to drive integrated circuitry, such as passive radio frequency identification (RFID) circuits. Of course, the particular application can also place an upper requirement on the maximum size of the coil. For example, most smart card, fare card, or similar applications seek to

Figure 8. (a) A range of Texas Instruments 13.56 RFID tags based on etched inductive coils and attached Si chips. For size reference, the rectangular tag near the top center is the size of a credit card. (b) A UPM 900 MHz RFID label based on a dipole-type antenna and an attached Si IC chip in a label inlay format.

adhere to the ISO standard size used for bank and credit cards. For item level tagging of small products, even smaller sizes are generally sought. An ideal size would be that of a typical UPC barcode, but larger sizes, such as those of typical antitheft labels (1-3 square inches), are also of interest. See Figure 8a for some examples of Texas Instruments RFID tags based on CMOS Si and etched copper coils including "coin" tags and ISO card sizes.

In the ultra high frequency (UHF) and microwave range, coupling to the RF field typically happens in the far field at distances where the radiation is propagating as a wave. In this case, coupling to the antennae is most efficient when the antennae size is of order of the wavelength of the radiation, which would be \sim 33 cm at 900 MHz. In this range, conductivity constraints on the antennae are reduced as there is not the requirement for induced current handling around a relatively long coil inductor, as was the case for HF RFID. However, due to the high frequency of the incoming signal, there is a demand for fast and low parasitic loss components to couple UHF antennae typically of order $\sim \lambda$, $\lambda/2$, or similar, and, in practice, UHF and microwave antenna layouts can often be a complex balance of directionality, power harvesting, and data bandwidth. For example, see Figure 8b.⁵⁷ As the frequency goes higher into the microwave region, there is the possibility for further antennae size reduction and even the possibility for on-chip integration of the RF antennae such as with the Hitachi μ -chip.⁵⁸ However, these typically only operate at very close range. Furthermore, the active device speeds and high directionality of communications make these applications accessible only by very high speed and low capacitance devices,59 which may be difficult to achieve with high throughput, large area approaches.

In some cases, ease of manufacture can also be a consideration in favor of larger area processing. In conventional Si approaches to RFID, $\sim 1 \text{ mm}^2$ or smaller chips are typically attached to the antennae by conductive adhesive bond pad connections between the chip bond pads to the \gg cm² inductive coils or antennae. The electrical and physical attachment is made to an essentially pure metal coil (HF) or possibly a higher resistivity printed metal antennae pattern for UHF and microwave operation. The antennae cost for passive RFID tags can approach \$0.01-\$0.05 depending on size, range, and frequency response. Often an intermediate "strap" approach is used in conventional RFID assembly where the chip is attached to the $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2$ strap, and then the strap, which contains electrical distribution traces to relatively large attachment pads on it, is subsequently connected to the antennae itself.

Highly integrated Si technology, available at standard foundries, can deliver the speed, logic, and memory functions required for high functionality RFID (typically 10^3-10^4

devices) in a very small area. Therefore, from a chip cost perspective, there is a driving force to dice a starting device wafer up into the smallest possible die size, thus yielding the most RFID devices per wafer. Currently, it is possible to realize full RFID functionality on a Si RFID chip with a die cost of <\$0.01 for a large enough scale order. However, as the device die get smaller, that is, 100s of micrometers per side, the throughput, cost, and robustness of the attach process can suffer. It is often this step that fundamentally limits RFID manufacturing throughput and cost limits as typical "pick and place" chip attach operations cost of order \$0.01-\$0.02 per attach and can require relatively slowcuring conductive adhesives. By integrating such a small Si RFID die onto an antennae, which can cost of order \$0.01-\$0.05 itself, it is possible to realize <\$0.05 RFID tags. Also, it is the attachment process that can be the focus for cost reduction.

There have been a number of research and development efforts motivated by the concept that printed active electronics could provide an alternative low-cost RF approach. The strategy is to avoid this attachment cost by directly printing the active RFID circuitry onto the antennae or vice versa. However, this approach encounters fundamental challenges. Because of encapsulation and substrate surface quality effects, the substrates required for printed electronics can be relatively expensive, and using a common substrate for the antennae and the RF circuit means that large areas of relatively high-cost substrate must be used. Furthermore, even for printed electronics, printing high functionality die over large areas leads to higher overall process costs and/or lower throughputs. On the basis of this, hybrid approaches have been proposed where intermediate size circuits, of order 1 cm², could be printed or processed by semiconventional thin film semiconductor processing.⁶⁰ These $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2$ "large area" die could then be attached to antennae using relatively low resolution, high throughput, and lower cost attach processes such as simple crimping or low resolution adhesive attach. These lower resolution attach processes can cost \sim \$0.001 per attach and use higher throughput and less specialized tools.

Looking to the future, there are other large area RF applications that may also emerge such as large, locally tuned antenna arrays, wireless sensors, and ad-hoc wireless networks. For all of these new cases, the physical constraints and size mismatches seen at the various frequency ranges of RFID will be similar or even more challenging than the RFID examples given above.

In terms of device performance on the other side of the antennae, RFID tags present unique performance challenges for those developing new technology answers for this application space. Power harvesting at the carrier frequency to provide onboard power for tag operation and return communication to the reader, communication signal encoding and decoding between the tag and the reader, and logic functions on the chip are significant challenges. As shown in Figure 7, high frequency systems typically operate at 13.56 MHz, where the FCC allows higher reader broadcast powers. However, the FCC and other regulatory agencies around the world specify very tight bandwidth constraints, in part, to limit interference with other communications systems.⁶¹ Thin film silicon and other inorganic semiconductors can produce devices operating in this frequency range. However, the very tight bandwidth specifications require very close tuning of the tag front end circuit with the reader frequency ($\sim 1\%$).

The implication of this is that the tuning capacitors used in the tag, typically of order 100 pF, have to be tuned with great accuracy. This is challenging even for typically Si and passive circuitry, and there are special strategies for adjusting tag frequency response to account for manufacturing variances.

From a device speed perspective, 13.56 MHz operation seems more attractive as it is lower frequency than the 900 MHz range, which is the other major frequency of interest for high volume RFID tagging. Lower frequencies for the incoming carrier signal and lower device switching speeds do not require as short a transistor channel length, as high mobility, or as low a parasitic capacitance. All of these things favor the typically lower feature placement accuracy, larger linewidths, and lower mobilities commonly achievable with novel solution-based, printed, and large area electronics approaches. Most of the efforts toward novel thin film devices for low-cost RFID have focused in this range.⁶² These efforts have shown the possibility of 13.56 MHz operational organic rectifiers. However, there is still a significant performance gap when Q-factor, off resonance tuning for higher sideband signal, and LC coil detuning during signal modulation are considered. Q-factor is a ratio between the energy stored in each wave cycle of the RF field versus the energy dissipated in each cycle through resistive and parasitic losses. Q-factors between 10 and 40 are common for RF front-end devices. There are also special timing challenges.

Because of the bandwidth limits and the defacto standard for Si devices operating in this area, timing and synchronization for 13.56 MHz RFID is done by direct division of the carrier frequency down to produce a clock signal for onchip clock speeds. This means that, beyond the rectifier devices themselves, which are typically two terminal diodes that can have relatively short carrier transit distances across the semiconductor layer thickness, there are logical divider transistors that must also be switching directly at 13.56 MHz.⁵⁷ These devices must have very low parasitic losses (low capacitance and low on resistance). Considering all of these things and practical considerations of cutoff, frequency, logic gate switching speeds, and device geometry, it is anticipated that novel, solution-derived thin film RFID transistors for 13.56 MHz RFID operation will need: (1) TFT mobility in excess of 10 cm²/V \cdot s, (2) channel lengths <5 μ m,⁶⁰ (3) a self-aligned or highly accurate gate alignment process with $\sim 1 \,\mu m$ or less overlap between transistor gate and source/drain electrodes, and (4) n- and p-type devices such that low power consumption, complementary inverters, which are the building blocks of virtually all logic, including dividers, can be implemented.⁶³ Some have proposed simplified timing and communication protocols to make it easier, from a tag perspective, to create a large area electronics RFID system. However, as compared to their CMOS Si-based counterparts, these simpler tag protocols typically have less functionality than their CMOS Si-based counterparts and the possibility of unresolvable multiple tag responses (called "collisions").64

There has been significant progress on performance of polymer semiconductors and both p- and n-type materials that present good environmental stability are now available.^{65–67} The integration of p- and n-type materials enables the fabrication of complementary circuits that enhance the speed and reliability of organic-based electronics.^{21,68,69} It has been shown that complete threshold voltage compensation is needed to apply complementary organic TFTs in analogue

circuits.^{69,70} However, if the currents and threshold voltage shifts of p- and n-type TFTs are well matched, stable digital operation is obtained.^{69,70} As mentioned above, the rectifying diode is the most demanding component of a RFID tag. Pentacene-based rectifiers have been shown to operate at 50 MHz.⁷¹ The achievement of high-frequency operation for organic rectifying diodes is a great step toward organic-based RFIDs; however, a fully integrated system that operates at 13.56 MHz remains to be obtained.

The progress on materials development and performance is due to a better understanding of the needs of each application along with the properties of the materials. Feedback on materials performance and process conditions when devices are fabricated allows chemistry groups to change the material design to achieve improved properties such as brightness, absorption range, chain packing, energy levels, solubility, and environmental stability. The next sections focus on materials that have potential to be applied to all applications described above.

3. Materials

3.1. Organic Electronics Materials

Large area, high throughput manufacturing of organic electronic products is most efficiently enabled by solutionbased, additive printing techniques. This requires that the device materials can be formulated into solvent-based inks, which are then deposited by printing processes including inkjet, gravure, and flexography. In an organic transistor, the highest resolution step is usually to deposit the source and drain electrodes, whereas deposition of the dielectric and semiconductor can tolerate lower resolution techniques. The key aspect of the gate electrode patterning is that it must be precisely registered over the channel.

The highest value component in OLED, OTFT, and OPV devices is the organic semiconductor, and the design of new and improved semiconductor materials has been critical to the advancement of organic electronics technology. Both small molecule and polymer semiconductors can be deposited from solution, and both classes of materials are being pursued, depending on device and fabrication specifications. The highest mobility devices demonstrated in the literature have utilized small molecule semiconductors,⁷² or a blend of small molecule and polymer.73 Translating these small molecule laboratory device results into a reliable and large area manufacturing process has proven challenging. Small molecule formulations are typically low viscosity, and this can limit the processing options, which is one reason why blending with polymers approach has been developed. The crystalline domain length-scale of high mobility small molecule thin films is typically micrometers or greater, which is also the characteristic length of a transistor channel. The anisotropy of crystalline mobility, coupled with drop in mobility at grain boundaries, both contribute to large device to device variations. In applications such as OLED backplanes and large integrated circuits, performance variability from transistor to transistor cannot be tolerated. Small molecule semiconductors typically have a wide solubility parameter profile. This limits the solvents that can be used for subsequent deposition steps on top of the semiconductor film and thus also reduces the materials options. Polymer semiconductors have much smaller crystalline domains, which, over the length of a typical transistor channel, averages any anisotropy and thus reduces device to device

variability. Formulation viscosity in polymers can also be tailored by varying the molecular weight and even the relatively high viscosity requirements of gravure printing can be achieved with polymer semiconductors. The major challenge for high performance polymer semiconducting materials is to further improve charge carrier mobility as well as ensuring storage and operation stability. This section describes the design principles that have been employed to optimize thin film microstructure and morphology, as well providing illustrations of molecular design optimization and a state of the art review.

3.2. Semiconducting Polymer Design

Most high performing semiconducting polymers exhibit some kind of organized thin film microstructure. High charge carrier mobility is typically attributed to a coplanar conjugated backbone conformation and subsequent assembly into closely π stacked crystalline domains, often sheet-like lamellae.⁷⁴ Orientation of these domains such that the planar backbone structures are orthogonal to the plane of the substrate gives rise to the optimal charge transport.⁷⁴ As the field effect transistor device transports charge within the thin film plane and charge propagates close to the semiconductor/ dielectric interface, then molecular ordering and orientation at this interface into π -stacked and aligned domains has been shown to lead to improved charge transport.⁷⁴ The polymer backbone conformation provides the molecular template from which this oriented microstructure assembles. For example, polymers containing conjugated thiophene repeat units orient such that adjacent sulfur atoms along the backbone maximize their separation by arranging in an "anti" configuration across the backbone, as shown in Table 3, and as a result 2,5 linked thiophene polymers are non rotationally invariant, with a long persistence length. Coupled thiophene units have the potential to adopt a coplanar conformation in the solid phase, allowing close intermolecular approach between adjacent backbones, stacking together in a face to face (π stacked) arrangement. Lamella structures with layers of semiconducting aromatic

Table 3. Polymer Semiconductor	Structures and	l Reported TFT	Mobility		
Polymer Structure	Polymer Acronym	Charge Carrier Mobility cm ² /Vs ^[reference]	Polymer Structure	Polymer Acronym	Charge Carrier Mobility cm ² /Vs ^[reference]
	РТАА	0.005 [101]		BBTDPP1	0.1 (h) ^[111, 191] 0.1 (e)
CeH177 nCeH177	F8T2	0.02 [9]	C16H33 C16H33	CDT-BTZ	1 4 [108]
S S S	рВТСТ	0.1 ¹⁰⁴	H S S S	CD1-D12	1.7
C ₁₄ H ₂₉	РЗНТ	0.2 [88]	Southern Sou		0.2 [95, 105]
C ₁₂ H ₂₃	РОТ	0.1 [93]	Ce ^H 13 Ce ^H 17 Ce ^N 7 S. 1	DTP-co-THs	0.1 [106]
C ₁₂ H ₂₃		[62]		TIFDMT	0.1 (e) ^[113]
	pBTTT	0.6			1721
C14H29	TS6T2	0.1 [109]		pATXT	0.3 (n=1) ^{1/3} 0.2 (n=2)
Sí C ₆ H ₁₃ C ₆ H ₁₃	PBTDT-12	0.3 [105]	C ₁₉ H ₂₇	P2TDC13FT4	0.3 [112]
C _{12H25} C _{12H25}	P(ND12OD-	0.85 (e) ^[66]	\sum	ACTP-F	0.2 [114]
CBH17 OFNO	T2)		$ + s + s + s + c_{12} + c_{1$		
			C14H29 C14H29 C14H29 C14H29 C14H29 C14H29	PTzQT-14	0.2 [193]
L			C:::H29		

backbones vertically separated by insulating layers of alkyl chains extending from the backbone can form on long-range π stacks and are vertically separated by the alkyl chains that extend from the backbone. The ability of the aliphatic layers to order into close packed structures plays a key role in influencing the domain ordering length-scale. Side-chain interdigitation between vertically adjacent lamellae has been shown to facilitate three-dimensional interlayer "registration", thus promoting large domain sizes and improved ordering.⁷⁵ This interdigitation can occur only if the side-chain attachment density along a polymer chain is low enough to permit chains from the nearest vertical lamella to occupy the free space between the chains. Regularly spaced side-chain distances are also advantageous. The side-chain density of poly(3-hexylthiophene), for example, has too high a sidechain density to permit interdigitation, whereas pBTTT, with larger spacing distance, and ordered side chains, can interdigitate,⁷⁵ leading to much larger and more ordered domains.

3.3. Poly(3-alkylthiophenes)

Regioregular (RR) poly(3-hexylthiophene) (P3HT) is an exemplary semiconducting polymer due to its ready availability, ease of processing from solution, and its promising electrical properties arising from a highly crystalline microstructure. Maximizing the regioregularity and optimizing the molecular weight^{76,77} was shown to result in a systematic improvement in charge carrier mobility. The electron rich, π -conjugated, and highly planar backbone contributes to a high HOMO energy level of about -4.6 eV, and a thin film electronic absorption maximum at about 560 nm. Additional fine structure, often observed at wavelengths greater than the absorption maximum, provides a signature for aggregation.⁷⁸ This high HOMO energy level is responsible for the often observed oxidative instabilities⁷⁹ of P3HT to ambient air and humidity. When the H-T regioregularity of P3HT exceeds about 96%, charge carrier mobilities of up to 0.1 $cm^2/(V \cdot s)$ have been exhibited in an inert atmosphere.⁷⁴ The in-plane electrical properties of these crystalline films are dramatically influenced by many device and fabrication properties. For example, treatment of a bare SiO₂ dielectric surface with a hydrophobic SAM such as octyltrichlorosilane (OTS),⁸⁰ results in improved P3HT mobility and higher oncurrents. A contributing factor to reduce the mobility on bare silicon oxide surface⁸¹ is that the polar surface can "anchor" polymer chains, inhibiting large-scale self-assembly leading to faster nucleation, a less organized semiconductor microstructure, and more grain boundaries, thus lowering mobilities.

The length of the alkyl side chain also plays a role in thin film charge transport. The hexyl chain length^{82,83} is reported to be optimal, with decreasing charge carrier mobility as the chain is further lengthened. As the intermolecular $\pi - \pi$ distance is similar across the different chain lengths,⁸⁴ the decrease may be due to an increase in the volume fraction of insulating side chains in the thin film. Alignment of the polymer lamellae in the plane of the substrate may be required to minimize the effect of increasing alkyl chain volume, because an in-plane percolation pathway in this orientation would not require tunnelling through insulating regions. The side-chain chemical structure has also been reported to have an effect on charge carrier mobility⁸⁴ with the conclusion that nonpolar, linear alkyl chains were optimal for backbone stacking and charge transport.

Low molecular weight, highly regioregular P3HT (\sim 5 KDa) is highly crystalline, with a rod-like microstructure

observed by AFM measurements, in which the rod width does not exceed the length of the polymer chains. Higher molecular weight P3HT (>30 KDa) with similar regioregularity is less crystalline with small nodule like crystallites. The low molecular weight films, although more crystalline, exhibit lower mobilities. It appears that the higher molecular weight P3HT has better defined and more connected grains, whereas the low molecular weight P3HT has more defined grain boundaries.⁷⁶An enhanced out of plane twisting in low molecular weight polymer backbone conformation has also been proposed as an explanation for the difference in mobility.⁷⁷ The deviation from planarity decreases the effective conjugation length and reduces the efficiency of charge hopping. Increasing molecular weight has also been correlated with increasing crystalline quality within domains, with fewer chain ends per domain or "nanoribbon" as well as the opportunity for larger polymer chains to bridge between domains.⁸⁵ However, at high molecular weights $(>\sim 50$ KDa), there is an increase in crystalline disorder, possibly due to slower crystallization kinetics. The sensitivity of P3HT microstructure to the fabrication solvent and conditions has also been observed. Higher boiling solvents promote the self-assembly of crystalline domains to occur in a longer time frame,⁸⁶ leading to improved electrical performance. More recently, this approach has been developed to demonstrate that even low regioregularity P3HT, when fabricated from very high boiling point solvents such as trichlorobenzene, can achieve high charge carrier mobilities. The solvent evaporation rate⁸⁷ was also shown to influence the polymer backbone orientation with respect to the substrate. Low evaporation rates promote the more optimal edge-on orientation. Dip coating techniques have also been utilized to fabricate highly ordered thin film layers that show mobilities up to $0.2 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{V} \cdot \text{s})$.⁸⁸

Chemical modification of thiophene containing backbones has been employed⁸⁹ to provide controlled manipulation of both the polymer backbone conformation and the microstructure, as well as tuning of the electronic energy levels of the molecular orbitals. For example, head to head regiopositioning of alkyl groups in adjacent thiophene units along a polythiophene leads to significant steric interactions and a resultant twist between the planes of adjacent thiophene rings. This not only reduces the π orbital overlap, but prevents a closely packed π stacked lamella microstructure, thus inhibiting crystallization. The reduced π orbital overlap significantly lowers the HOMO energy level, therefore improving ambient stability.

Alternative approaches to improve polymer ambient stability by increasing the ionization potential have incorporated electron poor comonomers such as 1,2-pyrazine⁹⁰ or perfluorobenzene⁹¹ into the backbone. Reduction of the conjugated electron density by introduction of an electronwithdrawing group as a substituent on the polymer backbone⁹² has also been employed. This serves to increase the ionization potential and can increase solubility if the appropriate functionality is used.

Polymers based on the 3,3^{'''}-dialkyl-quaterthiophene repeat unit (PQT) were reported that could also form highly ordered thin film microstructures by self-organization through interdigitation of the solubilizing alkyl side-chains. FET charge carrier mobilities of up to 0.14 cm²/(V•s) were obtained⁹³ on annealing within the liquid crystalline mesophase.⁹⁴ The conformational freedom of the unsubstituted bithiophene repeat unit was attributed to be responsible for reducing effective conjugation along the backbone, leading to an increase of 0.1 eV in ionization potential over P3HT. This increase was reported to sufficiently impart an improvement in ambient stability, with transistors operating for over 1 month in ambient air.

When coupled in the 2 and 5 positions, the thieno[2,3*b*]thiophene unit cannot form a fully conjugated pathway between coupled units. This limits the effective conjugation length that can be achieved along the backbone, with the effect of reducing the HOMO energy level and thereby increasing oxidative stability. Copolymers of thieno[3,2*b*]thiophene with 4,4'-dialkyl-2,2'-bithiophene (pBTCT) were reported to exhibit a 0.4 eV lowering of the HOMO energy level in comparison to P3HT,⁹⁵ and transistor devices showed good stability in air, with values of up to 0.04 cm²/(V·s) and corresponding on/off ratios around 10^6 .

3.4. Poly(thieno(3,2-b)thiophenes

Poly(2,5-bis(3-alkylthiophen-2-yl)thieno(3,2-*b*)thiophene $(pBTTT)^{65}$ is an alternating copolymer of thieno(3,2-*b*)-thiophene and 4,4-dialkyl 2,2-bithiophene. Both monomers are centrosymmetric, and, on polymerization, the repeat unit has a rotational symmetry along the polymer long axis, which helps facilitate optimal backbone and side-chain packing, leading to a highly ordered microstructure.

The polymer was shown to orient with the backbone long axis in the plane of the substrate, and the thiophene ring plane oriented orthogonal to the substrate plane with the appropriate surface treatment. Both spectral ellipsometry and near edge X-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy (NEXAFS) have shown⁹⁶ that, on annealing, the lamella lie in the plane of the substrate and that the backbone conjugated plane is tilted with respect to the lamella plane. The alkyl side chains also appear, from polarized IR measurements, to be well ordered in a trans configuration and are oriented tilted to the backbone. Significant side-chain interdigitation has also been identified,⁷⁵ a process that, due to the symmetry of the repeat units, can be facilitated by simple rotation round the backbone axis, unlike P3HT. Very thin films (20-30 nm thick) were observed to have micrometer size domains, spanning many polymer lengths, and a terrace like topography, in which the height of each step correlates to the crosssectional width of the polymer backbone and tilted side chains. TEM data now suggest that these domains are comprised of clusters of nanocrystallites, although the reason that these appear to form a molecularly flat surface remains unexplained. The presence of both side-chain ordering and interdigitation are in contrast to that of regioregular P3HT, in which the side chains were concluded⁹⁷ to be "liquid like", and noninterdigitated as observed by polarized FTIR. This improved crystallinity and ordering manifests as improved charge carrier mobility. OFET devices have been fabricated from pBTTT polymer solutions, and hole mobility values of up to 0.8 $\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})$ were reported in a nitrogen atmosphere. These values approach that of high performing evaporated small molecule devices and are comparable to amorphous silicon.

The delocalization of electrons from the thienothiophene aromatic unit into the backbone is less favorable than from a single thiophene ring, due to the larger resonance stabilization energy of the fused ring over the single thiophene ring. This reduced delocalization along the backbone, as well as the reduced inductive electron donation from the fewer alkyl chains per repeat unit, causes a lowering of the polymer HOMO level compared to P3HT, and therefore improved ambient stability. In bottom gate, bottom contact devices, where the active semiconductor layer is exposed, the effect of different ambient conditions has been evaluated.^{98,99} Exposure to unpurified, ambient air in which the humidity is approximately 50% results in an initial increase in the off current of the device. In filtered, low humidity air, transistors remain very stable over time.⁹⁹

Further improvements in ambient stability were achieved through introduction of alkyl side chains at the 3 and 6 positions of the thieno [3,2-b] thiophene unit. Copolymers with both unsubstituted thiophene and bithiophene comonomers gave rise to liquid crystalline polymers with high charge carrier mobility. The bithiophene copolymer (PAT2T), for example, had a highly crystalline thin film microstructure, even as-cast, although the domain size does not approach the micrometer scale of pBTTT thin films. PAT2T has an increased ionization potential of about 0.05 eV and a hypsochromic λ max shift in the solid-state UV spectra of about 15 nm, attributed to a less planar backbone conformation. Bottom gate transistor devices exhibited charge carrier mobilities of up to 0.2 $\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})$ and were stable in fully ambient conditions in the dark. The monothiophene copolymer exhibited a charge carrier mobility of up to $0.3 \text{ cm}^2/$ $(V \cdot s)$ in nitrogen.

3.5. Benchmark Polymer Semiconductors

Alkyl-substituted triphenylamine polymers (PTAA) have been shown to have excellent ambient stability.¹⁰⁰ The presence of the nitrogen along the backbone prevents π electron delocalization, resulting in a short conjugation length, creating low-lying HOMO energy levels and stability to oxidation. The nitrogen link is nonplanar, allows free backbone rotation, and the large linkage angle prevents π -electron stacking between backbones, leading to an amorphous microstructure and low charge carrier mobility. In top-gate device architectures, with low K dielectrics, p-type mobilities of around 0.005 cm²/(V·s) were achieved with high work function electrodes.¹⁰¹ As-deposited films, however, have isotropic transport and require no further heat treatment to obtain maximum mobility.

Polyfluorenes are rigid rod polymers that can be rendered soluble in organic solvents by appropriate substitution at the bridging C9 position, exhibiting high temperature liquid crystalline phases, which can be thermally exploited to achieve optimal thin film microstructures and good transistor performance.¹⁰² The bridged phenylene units give rise to lowlying HOMO energy levels, leading to poor charge injection in FET devices from other than high work function electrodes, and subsequently poor charge transport. Incorporation of a bithiophene unit to form the alternating copolymer poly(9,9-dioctylfluorene-co-bithiophene) (F8T2) resulted in an increase in both HOMO energy level (from -5.8 to -5.4eV) and improved charge transport.¹⁰³ Orientation of the polymer backbones can be achieved by a combination of thermal annealing within the mesophase and substrate induced alignment.¹⁰³ TFT mobility of up to 0.02 cm²/(V·s) has been reported for this polymer, with good ambient stability.

3.6. High Performance Polymer Semiconductors

The repeat unit benzodithiophene has been incorporated into semiconducting polymer designs,¹⁰⁴ and when copoly-

merized with dialkylbithiophene subsequent polymers were reported to achieve mobilities of about 0.2 cm²/(V \cdot s).¹⁰⁵ Transistor devices also were observed to be reasonably air stable. These polymers appear to attain a self-assembled aggregated microstructure on deposition from solution, and therefore an extended thermal annealing was not required to promote good charge transport. The closely packed alkylated chain density around the backbone precludes the possibility of side-chain interdigitation, with only a high temperature main-chain melt observed on heating.

Copolymers, *N*-alkyldithienopyrrole, with alkylated thiophenes (DTP-*co*-THs) were synthesize, d^{106} resulting in high charge carrier mobilities of around 0.1 cm²/(V · s). Although the monomer units were shown to have a planar conformation, it was concluded that polymer thin films were amorphous, but could possess "long range π connectivity". The high electron density of the thiophene rings, coupled with the electron donation of the nitrogen on the pyrrole, contribute to a high HOMO energy level. Devices measured under argon show low on/off ratios, indicating the possibility of doping and ambient instabilities.

Copolymers of the fused monomer cyclopentabithiophene and benzothiadiazole (CDT-BTZ) were initially prepared for low band gap solar cells.¹⁰⁷ Nonbranched analogues with improved molecular ordering were shown to exhibit good charge transport in OFET devices.¹⁰⁸ Although the alkyl chains from the bridging atom project out of the plane of the planar repeat unit, extended ordering was achieved as evidenced by both the highly crystalline two-dimensional grazing incidence wide-angle X-ray diffraction patterns and the highly textured AFM images. By further purification of both monomers, higher molecular weight polymer was achieved, which was then employed in a dip-coating fabrication process to optimize molecular orientation. Very large charge carrier mobility of over $1 \text{ cm}^2/(V \cdot s)$ can be achieved in the dip-coated direction, with an approximate in-plane anisotropy of a factor of 2.

The charge carrier mobility of a copolymer of dithienosilole and bithiophene (TS6T2) was reported to reach values approaching $0.1 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{V} \cdot \text{s})$.¹⁰⁹ Although the influence of the silicon atom on the molecular orbital energy level of the conjugated system is mainly to stabilize the LUMO,¹¹⁰ no n-type mobility was observed. Some stabilization of the HOMO level also arises, which contributes to improved ambient air stability of these polymers in comparison to P3HT.

Exploitation of the push—pull effect of the conjugated pyrrolo[3,4-]pyrrole unit afforded ambipolar charge transport polymers where the electron donating nitrogen and withdrawing carbonyl groups create a large dipole within the fused pyrrole orthogonal to the backbone, and this effect, coupled with the planarity of the thiophene repeat units, leads to a highly aggregated, π -stacked conformation. This persisted even when the alkylthiophene monomers were coupled in a head-to-head alkyl link. With electrodes chosen to optimize charge injection, the ambipolar nature of the polymer BBTDPP1 was employed in a light-emitting transistor device.¹¹¹ Hole mobilities of around 0.1 cm²/(V•s) were obtained on more standard bottom gate devices.

Extending the pBTTT design concept that has previously illustrated the beneficial effects of fused conjugated ring systems to reduce the backbone conformational freedom, a highly fused polymer tetrathienothiophene co bithiophene (P2TDC13FT4) was reported with high charge carrier mobility.¹¹² Although the linear alkyl side-chain incorporation density was quite low, solubility of the polymer was not a problem. Another example of high performance fused thiophene cobialkylthiophenes is the dithienothiophene analogue (PBTDT-12) of pBTTT, which was reported to exhibit mobilities of up to 0.3 cm²/(V·s).¹⁰⁵

The indenofluorenebis(dicyanovinylene) core unit, with the high electron-withdrawing cyano groups, was copolymerized with a tail to tail alkyl-substituted bithiophene monomer, and the resultant polymer (TIFDMT) was reported to exhibit excellent electron mobility.¹¹³ The dicyanovinyl functionality planarizes the indenofluorene ring structure by removal of the sp³ hybridized bridging group, which may help backbone aggregation, and indeed thin films exhibit highly crystalline textures. Electron mobilities of up to 0.16 cm²/(V·s) were reported from top-contact Au electrode devices.

Acenaphtho[1,2-*b*]thieno[3,4-e]pyrazine repeat units were coupled in the 2 and 5 positions with alkylthiophene units, then copolymerized with a branched fluorene commoner to form the polymer ACTP-F.¹¹⁴ The electron-withdrawing thienopyrazine unit has a hybridized molecular orbital with the electron donation components of the conjugated polymer backbone, thus promoting a low band gap, light absorbing functionality suitable for solar cell applications. The highly planar acenaphtho[1,2-*b*]thienopyrazine unit coupled with coplanar alkyl thiophenes is likely to promote an aggregated microstructure, which promotes charge carrier mobilities of up to 0.17 cm²/(V · s).

Recently a high mobility n-type polymer (P(ND12OD-T2)), with N-alkylated naphthalene diimide repeat units, was reported⁶⁶ with good ambient stability. On optimizing the device architecture, choice of dielectric, and channel length, an electron mobility of up to 0.85 cm²/(V·s) was achieved, representing a significant improvement on the benchmark values for n-type polymers. The LUMO level is stabilized by the electron-withdrawing naphthalene diimide functionality, facilitating both electron injection and operational stability, while the planarity of the diimide and the bithiophene comonomers helped to promote a highly π stacked and crystalline morphology, responsible for the high charge carrier mobility. Swallow tail type alkyl chain branching from the imide functionality ensures good polymer solubility.

4. Device Stability

Most materials evaluation is done using single or a few devices, and the transition from single devices to circuits, however, is not a trivial one involving merely incremental improvements in processing technologies. To design integrated circuits with hundreds or thousands of transistors, whatever the materials and technology chosen, it is imperative to build a device model that simulates transistor behavior accurately. From the discussion in section 2, it is clear that different large area applications may require different materials. These could be low-temperature a-Si:H on flexible substrates, nano- or microcrystalline silicon, polysilicon, or more novel materials such as metal oxides, carbon nanotube mats, or organic semiconductors. One attractive feature of adapting conventional materials to large area and flexible platforms is the potential utilization of the knowledge base accumulated on materials physics, nonideal behavior, and instabilities. For instance, commercial software packages are available to simulate a-Si:H TFTs. These models are partially physics-based and take into account the transport properties of the semiconductor in addition to process-dependent fitting

parameters. Thus, the peculiarities of the I-V characteristics of low-temperature a-Si:H devices that are of interest in large area applications can be simulated with such models. Similarly, the DC characteristics of organic transistors in general obey the classic field-effect transistor (FET) equations obtained using the gradual channel approximation and therefore might lend themselves to being successfully modeled for the purpose of circuit design.^{115,116} The introduction of a gate-dependent mobility is a further refinement that takes into consideration particular aspects of the charge transport physics in these materials such as multiple trapping and release of electrostatically induced charge and Poole-Frenkel effects.¹¹⁷⁻¹²² While the fundamental aspects of these refinements are not completely understood, they can be introduced in device models at the phenomenological level by curvefitting families of transfer curves. There are other nonidealities in transistor characteristics, however, that pose significant challenges to circuit designers. Electrical instability (bias stress), for example, is a progressive shift of the threshold voltage (V_T) of the transistor under operation.^{123,124} Bias stress is a constant cause of concern in thin film materials of interest for large area electronics. In fact, understanding and controlling bias stress in a-Si:H films was a key step toward their application in display backplanes. The $V_{\rm T}$ shift in amorphous silicon often follows a stretched exponential law, which is attributed to the creation of trap states by the gate bias. The time-dependence of the $V_{\rm T}$ shift is well characterized in conventionally deposited a-Si:H and still being investigated in low-temperature material. In general, the $V_{\rm T}$ shifts more rapidly in a-Si:H deposited at low temperature (T < 350 °C). Recent developments, however, have produced TFTs made with low-temperature a-Si:H deposited on polyimide with stability similar to that of devices made on glass with a conventional process.¹²⁵ Long-term electrical stability remains largely unexplored in low-temperature a-Si:H on glass or flexible substrates. Even less is known about the long-term stability of emerging forms of Si such as nanocrystalline or printed films. As alternative inorganic materials to a-Si:H, mixed transition metal oxides (TMOs) containing Zn, In, and Ga have been recently investigated.¹²⁵ The electrical stability of this class of materials, which can be deposited in an amorphous or crystalline form or even printed with relatively small change in performance, is still under study. Short-term stability tests are promising and suggest that TMOs may constitute TFT channel materials capable of driving OLED displays. Thus, in light of the long-term goal of developing printed electronics, the electrical stability of printable organic transistors has become increasingly important as the carrier mobility of these materials approaches that of a-Si:H.

In addition to bias stress, other sources of nonideality are important. For instance, in a-Si:H, self-heating of short channel devices gives rise to the "kink effect", where the TFT current in saturation increases, kinking up rather than staying constant. Interestingly, the kink effect has not been observed in TMO TFTs. In organic TFTs on the other hand, as channel lengths drop below ~10 μ m the simple scaling obtained from the gradual channel approximation ($I \propto L^{-1}$, where L is the channel length) ceases to be valid. This behavior is due to the increasing importance of contact resistance at short channel lengths and to the emergence of a specific "short channel effect" in organic FETs.^{126,127} Charge injection from metals into organic semiconductors is a fertile research area and is still a matter of debate.^{128–132} Contact resistance models, however, reproduce device data accurately.¹³³ Therefore, while the contact resistance may limit device performance, it does not appear to present a fundamental impediment for device modeling and will not be discussed further here.

4.1. Bias Stress in Organic Transistors

4.1.1. Bias Stress Characterization

Bias stress depends strongly on the material, how it is processed, and the operating conditions of the transistor (i.e., biasing and environmental conditions).^{134–138} Bias stress manifests itself as a decay of the output current caused by the protracted operation of the transistor. Sources of bias stress related to the presence of mobile ionic species in the dielectric are not specific to polymer semiconductor devices and will not be discussed further.¹³⁹

It is well established that the output current decay is caused by a $V_{\rm T}$ shift during operation. The $V_{\rm T}$ shift occurs toward $V_{\rm G}$ and effectively tends to shut down the transistor. The shape of the transfer curves however does not change; therefore, the $V_{\rm T}$ shift is not due to the creation of new shallow traps but rather to charge trapping in deep traps.¹²³ The sheet of immobile trapped charge partially shields the gate voltage $V_{\rm G}$, causing the current to decay at fixed $V_{\rm G}$. Bias stress is a general phenomenon and is observed on a variety of dielectrics.¹⁴⁰

In continuous bias stress experiments, a fixed $V_{\rm G}$ is applied to the transistor, and the $V_{\rm T}$ is monitored over time. If the experiment is carried on for a long enough time (typically several days), $V_{\rm T}$ approaches $V_{\rm G}$ and the time-dependence of $V_{\rm T}$ is well-approximated by a stretched exponential law:^{141,142}

$$V_{\rm T}(t) = V_{\rm T}^0 + A \left\{ 1 - \exp\left[-\left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^\beta\right] \right\}$$

where V_{T}^{0} is the initial threshold voltage of the transistor, A is a constant that depends on V_{G} , τ is a typical relaxation time, and β is the dispersion parameter. Such kinetics are expected when charge is trapped in an exponential trap distribution having a characteristic temperature T_{0} .^{143–145} The dispersion parameter β equals T/T_{0} . At times shorter than τ , the stretched exponential is approximated by a power law.¹⁴⁶

Bias stress affects the extraction of transport parameters from the I-V characteristics of the transistors. Hysteresis and nonideal shapes are observed when bias stress occurs at time-scales typical of device characterization (~0.1 s to a few tens of seconds).¹³⁶ As a result, device parameters that are often used to characterize the semiconductor material appear to depend on measurement conditions. The progressive shutting off of the transistor during measurement produces a pronounced sublinear characteristic of the transfer curves and an apparent dependence of the carrier mobility on gate voltage, gate sweep rate, and dwell times. On the other hand, if the TFT is measured by starting from the onstate, the transfer curve will appear steeper and lead to an overestimate of the carrier mobility. The ideal transfer curves are recovered by making use of a pulsed gate bias, which minimizes bias stress effects during device characterization.136

Continuous bias measurements are useful to study the physics of bias stress. In operation, however, the transistor will be pulsed at a duty-cycle that is dictated by the application requirements. For example, in a display having



Figure 9. ΔV_T integrated during the on-cycle (on-state curve) and the off-cycle (off-state curve) as a function of V_T . ΔV_T during the on-cycle is negative, and that during the off-cycle is positive. A higher V_T implies that the device was stressed for a longer time. As the stress level increases, $|\Delta V_T|$ during the on-cycle decreases, and $|\Delta V_T|$ during the off-cycle increases. The abscissa where $|\Delta V_T|$ during the on-cycle equals that during the off-cycle is the stabilized ΔV_T .

N lines operated at a refresh rate of R Hz, the pixel TFT is on for 1/NR s and operates at a duty-cycle of 1/N. Differently from other disordered materials, charge trapped in organic semiconductors is partially released when the gate is turned off.¹³⁵ As a result, $V_{\rm T}$ shifts back toward its original value during the off-time of a pulsed biasing cycle. This effect is extremely important in transistors used in displays as these devices spend most of their lifetime in the off-state. Thus, during pulsed operation, the transistor eventually reaches a dynamic equilibrium state where the charge trapped during the on-cycle is released during the off-cycle and as a result the $V_{\rm T}$ remains constant (Figure 9).¹²⁵ In polythiophenes, it was observed that the elapsed time to reach stabilization, at duty-cycles in the range of 1/50 to 1/500, is about 1 day.¹⁴⁷ Furthermore, the stabilized $V_{\rm T}$ shift varies approximately linearly with duty-cycle.¹⁴⁷ Because of this dynamic equilibrium, bias stress in organic semiconductors is in actuality less severe than it may first appear by extrapolating shortterm measurements, where $V_{\rm T}$ stabilization has not had time to occur yet.

Effects due to extended time (>200 days) pulsed biasing have recently been studied in polythiophenes.¹⁴⁸ A small decrease in V_T shift, an increase in contact resistance, and a reduction in field-effect mobility were all observed. The V_T shift reduction is in fact due to a change in the shape of the transfer and is therefore unrelated to the usual bias stress effect caused by trapping. The reduction in effective mobility, on the other hand, depends on the number of times that the transistor is switched on and off. The high transient fields occurring during switching are thought to initiate a physical degradation process of the semiconductor.¹⁴⁸ A possible explanation for this observation is the formation of strain in the semiconducting film caused by electrostriction.

4.1.2. Bias Stress Mechanism

While the exact bias stress mechanism is unknown, there is circumstantial evidence pointing toward several different sources of electrical instability. In polymers, bias stress rate was found to be relatively insensitive to the choice of dielectric.¹³⁶Furthermore, release of trapped charge by band gap radiation was observed at the macroscopic and microscopic level.^{136,149} As a result, it was concluded that the trapped charge is located inside the semiconductor. The initial trapping rate in polythiophenes was found to be proportional

to the square of the hole concentration, suggesting the bimolecular formation of immobile bipolarons as the cause of bias stress.^{150,151} The binding energy of bipolarons is strongly dependent on the local structure of the semiconductors.¹⁵² Indeed, where charge is more localized, that is, where the semiconductor is more disordered, bipolarons are expected to have a higher binding energy due to the larger gain in backbone relaxation energy. Thus, disordered semiconductors are expected to exhibit a stronger bias stress effect than semicrystalline polymers, in agreement with experimental results observed with PQT-12 and F8T2.¹⁵³ Furthermore, the heterogeneous microstructure of semicrystalline polymers would lead to a distribution of trapping energy barriers, which would in turn lead to a power-law time-dependence of the $V_{\rm T}$ shift at long bias times, as observed experimentally.

In crystalline organic semiconductors, on the other hand, illumination with band gap radiation was found to have little or no effect on the $V_{\rm T}$ shift; therefore, the bias stress mechanism may be different. For instance, ab initio calculations suggest that the formation of hydrogen-induced traps may be responsible for bias stress in pentacene.¹⁵³

In all cases, however, it is likely that bias stress depends on the microstructure of the semiconductor. Indeed, it has been found that single-crystal organic semiconductors can exhibit essentially negligible bias stress,¹⁵⁴ while evaporated thin films of the same materials display noticeable bias stress in the same conditions.¹⁵⁵

Bias stress occurs in films measured in vacuum; however, its magnitude is greatly amplified by the presence of impurities. Water vapor has been recently determined to be the source of enhanced electrical instability in organic FETs, both crystalline and polymeric.^{100,156-161} The trapping rate in the presence of water vapor is increased by a factor of 200 as compared to that in dry air. This effect is completely reversible: as soon as water is made to diffuse out by placing the semiconducting film in a dry environment, the transistor recovers its original bias stress behavior. Bias stress enhancement due to water was verified to be generally observed with number of semiconductors. Furthermore, analysis of the trapping kinetics demonstrated that for a wide range of microstructures, the activation energy for trapping was the same (~ 0.6 eV), and therefore the wide differences in trapping rates could be attributed to the kinetic prefactor.¹⁵⁶ The physical origin of the prefactor is uncertain; therefore, the exact mechanism by which water molecules cause charge to be trapped at the dielectric/semiconductor interface remains unknown. Scanning probe experiments of the dielectric surface prior to semiconductor deposition showed that when a gate bias is applied, charge slowly diffuses into the channel region.¹⁶⁰ More hydrophobic surfaces displayed a slower charge diffusion rate, indicating that the diffusing charge is bound to surface water that adsorbs on the surface due to ambient humidity. This result is, however, in direct contrast with electric force microscopy experiments that suggested that trapping and release is much faster on OTStreated SiO₂ surfaces, which are highly hydrophobic, than on bare SiO₂ surfaces.¹⁶²

In addition to water vapor, a number of other vapors are found to increase the bias stress rate (e.g., acetone, mesitylene, MEK, heptane, NH₃).¹⁶³ None of the compounds analyzed caused permanent changes in the electrical characteristics of the films and were therefore only physically absorbed without forming covalent bonds. Most likely the cause of the increased bias stress rate was swelling and general increase of the disorder in the microstructure of the film. Interestingly, in pulsed $V_{\rm G}$ measurements, the steadystate $V_{\rm T}$ was not affected by the presence of absorbed impurities in the film. Thus, the impurities greatly increase the stressing rate but simultaneously increase the detrapping rate by the same amount; they do not, however, affect the total amount of trapped charge. The formation of an intermediate state involving the trapped charge and the impurity would be consistent with this observation.

Studies of bias stress in organic TFTs indicate that the $V_{\rm T}$ shift increases strongly with charge density in the channel. Thus, there is a great advantage in operating devices at a low $V_{\rm G}$. In most applications, the TFT footprint must be kept small, and reducing the device length is the only viable option to increase the drive current. Furthermore, as indicated in section 2, in certain applications where switching speed is crucial, short channel devices may be necessary. Nonideal behavior, however, is often observed in organic transistors with channel length shorter than approximately 10 μ m, which poses challenges to the use of short channel devices.

4.2. Short Channel Effects in Organic Transistors

In attempting to optimize device performance and integrate organic thin film transistors into applications such as display backplanes and logic, a set of nonidealities arise, which make predictive device modeling and analysis increasingly difficult. The critical device parameter when reducing device size is the channel length, L. The channel length controls the maximum switching frequency, $f \propto \mu/L^2$, device integration density, $N \propto 1/L^2$, and is related to the drain current, $I_D \propto$ μ/L , which must remain high when the channel width is reduced.¹⁶⁴ Additionally, many organic semiconducting materials, especially those of semicrystalline or polycrystalline nature, show channel length dependence due to grain size and morphology.⁷² Key performance indicators such as field effect mobility tend to increase in such materials as the channel length decreases to the order of, or smaller than, the average grain size, thus bypassing transport-hindering grain boundaries.

Nonideal device behavior due to short channel lengths is prevalent in the saturation regime. In particular, the output current is not constant in saturation, and the output current is much larger than expected based on classic device scaling leading to deviations from the square law $(I_d \propto (V_G - V_T)^2)$. As a result, the effective mobility extracted from the saturation currents increases with decreasing channel length.88,165 This effect can lead to an overestimation of the field-effect mobility by a large factor (>5). In addition, increase in off current, $V_{\rm T}$ shift, reduction in subthreshold slope, and hysteresis in device transfer characteristics have all been observed in short channel devices. Many of these effects observed in organic FETs are analogous to those previously observed and described for Si metal oxide semiconductor (MOS) FETs, despite the vast differences between organic semiconductors devices and single-crystal Si FETs. The underlying causes of these effects in MOSFETs are well understood, but the mechanisms that cause short channel effects in OFETs are under considerable debate. Nevertheless, here we outline some of the recurring short channel effects described in the literature, when they dominate, and potential approaches for mitigating some of the described nonidealities.

The morphological/structural and chemical nature of organic semiconductors is of importance when scaling device

size down. When the length scale of the channel is on the order of the characteristic microstructural length-scale of the semiconductor (e.g., grain size), a dependence of the device performance on channel length is to be expected. Better performance usually results from the decrease in the number of grain boundaries present in the channel. Short channel effects, however, are observed also with glassy semiconductors and at channel lengths much larger than the grain size.^{166,167} Thus, here we discuss these effects in general terms without restricting ourselves to specific semiconductors.

Channel-based effects in short channel devices occur when the ideal model for a FET begins to break down, that is, when the gradual channel approximation no longer holds. In this approximation, the electric field due to the gate voltage $(E_g = V_g/t_d)$, where V_g is the gate voltage, and t_d is the dielectric thickness) is a one-dimensional function of channel position and is thus much greater than the field caused by the source drain bias $(E_{ds} = V_{ds}/L)$. Interestingly, in organic TFTs, short channel effects have been observed in conditions where the electrostatics of the device are such that the gradual channel approximation should be valid (e.g., $t_d = 100$ nm, $L = 5 \ \mu$ m). In these cases, however, locally near the drain contact the field becomes a two-dimensional function of position, and deviations from the ideal behavior dictated by the gradual channel approximation are detected.

In devices based on organic electronic materials, short channel effects have been observed in a variety of different materials and processing conditions. Studies used vapor deposited small molecules, such as DH4T, solution-processed polymers such as P3HT¹⁶⁶ and PQT-12,¹⁶⁵ as well as solution-processed small molecules DH4T, and *E,E*-2,5-bis-{40-bis-(400-methoxyphenyl)amino-styryl}-3,4-ethylenedioxy-thiophene.¹⁶⁷

One of the first effects observed, as short channel effects appear in device characteristics, is channel modulation. This is observed as a lack of saturation above pinch off where $|V_g - V_T| = |V_d|$. To first approximation, this can be modeled with a constant conductance in the saturation regime: $I_{ds} = I_{ds(sat)}^*(1 + \lambda V_{ds})$, where λ is the channel length modulation parameter. With a further decrease in channel length, the device characteristics at low V_{ds} are affected.

Short channel effects manifest themselves as nondestructive current punch-through. As a result, output characteristics display a severe lack of saturation, more so than channel length modulation, where the conductance is constant at saturation. In punch-through, the current shows a highly nonlinear diode-like behavior. In inorganic MOSFETs, this occurs when the source and drain depletion regions come into contact, and space charge limited current (SCLC) flows through the channel. In this geometry, the SCLC current depends on the square of the potential drop. A similar dependence is also observed in short channel OFETs, but the mechanism is not well understood. Indeed, in organic TFTs, the diode-like behavior cannot originate from depletion, because at least near the source electrode the semiconductor is accumulated. The observed behavior is, however, quite similar to that of conventional MOSFETs. In short channel ($L \approx 70$ nm) P3HT transistors, two distinct regimes were observed (Figure 10).¹⁶⁶ At low drain voltage, I_d is proportional to $V_{\rm d}$, while at high bias, in saturation, $I_{\rm d}$ is proportional to V_d^n where n = 2.4. A power law relation with $n \sim> 2.4$ is consistent with SCLC-dominated behavior^{168,169} and is in agreement with conductivity experiments of such materials in high electric fields. The diode-like dependence



Figure 10. Output characteristics of devices with channel lengths ranging from 1 μ m to 70 nm. Reprinted with permission from ref 156. Copyright 2002 AIP.

is attributed to the collection of charge carriers in the channel due to poor polymer mobility and high current densities in short channel lengths. Haddock et al., while observing a superlinear saturation behavior, only measured n = 1.38 under high bias, suggesting that pure SCLC behavior is not attained in their short channel devices.¹⁶⁷

At longer channel length ($L = 3 \mu m$), the nonideal behavior is still attributed to an SCLC current. With increasing source-drain bias, a parasitic current path in the bulk of the material near the drain electrode develops, which is not controlled by the gate. Thus, the lack of saturation results from a competition between bulk and channel conductance near the drain electrode. Near pinch off, few carriers in the channel and high fields favor the bulk current. It is therefore suggested that this short channel effect is a body effect caused by semiconductor material above the channel. Transport through a device should be governed by a combination of the ideal or modified $I_{ds(sat)}$ for the channel region, and I_{sc} through the bulk, where $I_{sc} = 0.6\varepsilon \varepsilon_0 \mu_b W V^2 / V^2$ $L_{\rm b}^{2}$, where $\mu_{\rm b}$ is the mobility in the bulk of the organic semiconductor and V is voltage dropped across bulk current region $L_{\rm b}$.^{165,170} It is further suggested that while this effect takes place in all OFETs, as the channel is reduced, the contribution from L_{b} becomes relatively more important, and thus SCLC-dependent behavior is observed.

The most common ways to mitigate short channel effects involve altering the fields associated with the source-drain and gate biases such that the gradual channel approximation becomes valid again. One approach is to decrease the thickness of the gate dielectric to make the gate-induced field substantially larger than the transverse drain field. Indeed, device characteristics are improved and the onset of short channel effects is pushed to shorter channel lengths when the gate oxide is made thinner (from ca. 100 to 30 nm). While thinner oxides could lead to higher currents, high-k oxides and thin self-assembled monolayers dielectrics could be used to achieve even thinner equivalent oxide thicknesses, allowing for suppression of short channel effects.¹⁶⁷

Other approaches attempt to cut off the bulk conductance current path that contributes to the SCLC-based punchthrough effect described above. This can be obtained by making ultrathin transistors.¹⁷¹ Indeed, in monolayer transistors, the typical signature of short-channel effects (mobility increasing with decreasing L) was not observed down to sub micrometer channel lenghts. Alternatively, because the electrical properties of organic semiconductors depend strongly on their microstructure, there is an opportunity to use the materials' microstructure to optimize device performance. A sequence of quenching from the melt and brief recrystallization allows the formation of a layered microstructure where a thin semicrystalline polymer layer remains at the dielectric interface while the rest of the film is disordered. As a result, the field-effect mobility remains high while the bulk mobility is decreased, thereby suppressing the parasitic SCLC component.¹²⁵

Because of the varying nature of materials, fabrication, and device geometry, generalizations about when short channel effects begin to dominate have not been developed. The ability to model such behavior, while desirable, would require a better understanding of the mechanisms that cause these effects. At this point, it is still unclear if the multiple effects observed are all controlled by similar mechanisms, or whether a variety of factors come into play. Still, some guidelines have been set out in the literature, which can serve as a first-order predictor of these effects.¹⁶⁷ Short channel effects have been observed for channel lengths ranging over 2 orders of magnitude. By combining key parameters of a variety of observations in literature, short channel effects can be roughly thought to occur for channel length-oxide thickness ratios, L/t < 20, and longitudinal electric fields, $E_{\rm ds} = V_{\rm ds}/L > 10 \text{ V}/\mu \text{m}.^{167}$ Specific exceptions, however, have been observed.¹⁷² While the nature and specifics of this family of short-channel effects are still under investigation, it should be noted that they must depend on more physical quantities than only the ratio of applied fields.

5. Materials Patterning and Integration

The TFT is used as a building block for many of the applications described in section 2. Research groups focus their work on improving the performance of the TFT, improving materials synthesis for TFTs, and finding new ways of patterning these materials. One of the advantages of organic semiconductors, as shown in section 3, is that they can be processed from solution and therefore are compatible with printing techniques. A variety of printing approaches hasve been attempted to fabricate TFTs.^{4-6,8,9,39,59,173-176} Each one of these techniques has different advantages and disadvantages regarding registration, process temperature, and device performance. The general approach of contact printing enables small feature sizes, but the technique tends to have poor registration accuracy for multilayer device structures.³⁹ Features obtained by inkjet printing are generally larger than contact printing; however, layer-to-layer registration can be very accurate.^{18,177-183} The superior feature placement accuracy of inkjet printing allows gaps of $10 \,\mu m$ to be obtained and the source-gate overlap to be minimized.¹⁷⁵ The use of inkjet printing technology with subfemtoliter droplet volume giving high-resolution features was recently reported.²¹ In this work, p- and n-type organic TFTs with channel lengths as small as 1 μ m were achieved. While the source/drain was the only printed layer in these devices, it is a great step toward high speed printed electronics.

Because different applications have different feature size requirements, it is not clear that a single printing technique would be used. However, it is accepted that the ultimate goal for solution-processed electronics is the development of a fabrication process that does not waste materials by depositing each layer at the same time that patterning is done. High performance, stability, and low temperature processing



Figure 11. (a) Surface energy of gate dielectric materials is used to control the size of printed features. Disconnected drops are formed when the contact angle is higher than 80°. The printed line width can vary from 40 to 300 μ m when contact angles are smaller than 75°. (b) Schematic drawing of printing file used to fabricated TFT array and optical micrographs of all printed TFT arrays with 340 and 680 μ m pixel size. (c) Flexible electrophoretic display with printed active-matrix backplane. The inset shows an image of the printed array before lamination with display media. The pixel TFTs are based on the organic semiconductor PQT-12. Reprinted with permission from ref 175. Copyright 2008 SPIE Proceedings.

temperatures are also desired, as described in all sections of this Review.

One of the challenges for fabricating TFTs by printing is the control of spreading of the printed liquid inks, which ultimately defines the position and size of device components, when in contact with a solid surface. There are two competing factors when choosing the materials and solutions to be printed. It is desirable to have hydrophobic gate dielectrics to improve TFT mobility.⁸⁰ However, hydrophobic surfaces do not allow the formation of continuous printed features. In Figure 11 is displayed how an optical micrograph of disconnected drops of silver nanoparticles formed when printing was performed onto a thin film of poly(methylsilsesquioxane) (pMSSQ). The influence of water contact angle, varying from 70° to 60°, on printed line widths is shown in Figure 11a. The optical micrographs show silver lines varying from 45 and 70 μ m, good edge definition (straight lines are important to define the channel length of the TFT), and gaps between features as small as 10 μ m.¹⁷⁵ Liquid/solid interactions can also give rise to segregation of the solute to the edge of the drop or printed line; this phenomenon is known as the coffee stain effect.¹⁸⁴ There are several ways of controlling and avoiding the coffee stain effect. Depinning, which is often used to avoid the coffee stain effect, involves increasing contact angles, which would result in thick features and unstable printing conditions for long lines. Coffee stain effects can also be eliminated by changing the ink formulation (concentration and solvent composition) and by changing the drying conditions after printing.¹⁷⁵ It has been show that Marangoni flow can successfully reverse the coffee stain effect in printed drops.4,185,186

Once the devices are fabricated, encapsulation is required as the device characteristics such as on current and the subthreshold degrade with time once exposed to air.^{98,187} The encapsulation of organic-based devices, especially thin film transistors (TFTs) using the bottom gate geometry, is not trivial because plasma deposition of inorganic layers may damage the organic semiconductor. It has been shown that phase-separated polymer—semiconductor/polymer—insulator blends can be used to pattern and encapsulate TFTs.⁹⁸ The surface energy of the gate dielectric layer is controlled to favor the segregation of the semiconductor to the channel of the TFT and induce the segregation of the polymer—insulator to the top surface. This process creates a self-assembled double layer of semiconductor/insulator where the semiconductor forms a continuous layer at the channel region of the TFT while the insulating material encapsulates the device.^{98,188} Blends of components can also be used to improve the match between work function of electrodes and energy levels of semiconductors.¹⁸⁹ Inkjet inks formed of blends of different components are very attractive because they enable the deposition of more than one component in one step and in many cases have improved stability.

Recently, an all-additive printing process that combines metal nanoparticles, polymer dielectric, and organic semiconductors to form a flexible TFT backplane for displays was reported.⁴ This process was developed at PARC over the last 5 years, and details of different steps of the process are described elsewhere.^{4,5,40,175,188,190} A schematic drawing of an all printed TFT array pixel is shown in Figure 11b, where the green layers represent the gate level, the red layer is the data level, and the blue dot represents the region in the channel where the semiconductor is deposited. The potential simplicity of printed electronics is illustrated by Figure 11b, where the optical micrographs of the printed arrays match the outline of the printed file. The arrays have been integrated with E-Ink media and flexible paper-like displays are shown in Figure 11c. These types of TFT arrays are fabricated in four processing steps: deposition and patterning of gate, gate dielectric, source-drain electrodes, and semiconductor. All processing steps are additive, there is no waste of materials, and the only equipment used is an inkjet printer and an oven for sintering the silver nanoparticles and curing the gate dielectric. Careful materials choice, solvent orthogonally, and ink composition is taken into

account to stop one layer from dissolving the previously deposited material.

6. Conclusions

In conclusion, applications for large area, low-cost electronics with form factors and functionality beyond conventional Si electronics will continue to drive the growth of new emerging printed, organic, and solution-processed electronics technologies. This will require significant, closely integrated developments in materials and processing as well as a design strategy that best matches the need of the applications with the emerging capabilities of new large area electronic technologies.

It is clear that if inkjet technology is developed specifically for electronics, as opposed to document printing, high resolution will not be a limiting factor.

7. Acknowledgments

A.S. and J.R. wish to acknowledge financial support, respectively, from the National Science Foundation and the Office of Naval Research (NSDEG fellowship program).

8. References

- (1) Street, R. A. Technology and Applications of Amorphous Silicon; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 2000; Vol. 37.
- (2) Tsukada, T. Active-Matrix Liquid-Crystal Displays. In Technology and Applications of Amorphous Silicon; Street, R. A., Ed.; Springer Verlag: Heidelberg, 2000.
- (3) Burroughes, J. H.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Brown, A. R.; Marks, R. N.; Mackay, K.; Friend, R. H.; Burns, P. L.; Holmes, A. B. Nature 1990, 347. 539.
- (4) Arias, A. C.; Daniel, J.; Krusor, B.; Ready, S.; Sholin, V.; Street, R. JSID 2007, 15, 485
- (5) Arias, A. C.; Ready, S. E.; Lujan, R.; Wong, W. S.; Paul, K. E.; Salleo, A.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Apte, R.; Street, R. A.; Wu, Y.; Liu, P.; Ong, B. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2004, 85, 3304.
- (6) Burns, S.; Kuhn, C.; Mackenzie, J. D.; Stone, N.; Wilson, D.; Arias, A. C.; Brown, T.; Cain, P.; Devine, P.; Mills, J.; Sirringhaus, H. SID 02 Digest 2002, P43.1, 1.
- (7) Huitema, H. E. A.; Gelinck, G. H.; Putten, J. B. P. H. v. d.; Kuijk, K. E.; Hart, C. M.; Cantatore, E.; Herwig, P. T.; Breemen, A. J. J. M. v.; Leeuw, D. M. d. Nature 2001, 414, 599.
- (8) Rogers, J. A.; Bao, Z.; Makhija, A.; Braun, P. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11.741
- (9) Sirringhaus, H.; Kawase, T.; Friend, R. H.; Shimoda, T.; Inbasekaran, M.; Wu, W.; Woo, E. P. Science 2000, 290, 2123
- (10) Someya, T.; Sekitani, T.; Iba, S.; Kato, Y.; Kawaguchi, H.; Sakurai, T. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 9966.
- (11) Yoon, J.; Baca, A. J.; Park, S.; Elvikis, P.; Geddes, J. B. I.; Li, L.; Kim, R. H.; Xiao, J.; Wang, S.; Kim, T.-H.; Motala, M. J.; Ahn, B. Y.; Duoss, E. B.; Lewis, J. A.; Nuzzo, R. G.; Ferreira, P. M.; Huang, Y.; Rockett, A.; Rogers, J. A. Nat. Mater. 2008, 7, 907.
- (12) Cho, J. H.; Lee, J.; Xia, Y.; Kim, B.; He, Y.; Renn, M. J.; Lodge, T. P.; Frisbie, C. D. Nat. Mater. 2008, 7, 900.
- (13) Ahn, J.-H.; Kim, H.-S.; Menard, E.; Lee, K. J.; Zhu, Z.; Kim, D.-H.; Nuzzo, R. G.; Rogers, J. A.; Amlani, I.; Kushner, V.; Thomas, S. G.; Duenas, T. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 90, 213501.
- (14) Xiao, J.; Carlson, A.; Liu, Z. J.; Huang, Y.; Jiang, H.; Rogers, J. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 93, 013109.
- (15) Dinyari, R.; Rim, S.-B.; Huang, K.; Catrysse, P. B.; Peumans, P. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 92, 091114.
- (16) Kim, D.-H.; Ahn, J.-H.; Choi, W. M.; Kim, H.-S.; Kim, T.-H.; Song, J.; Huang, Y. Y.; Liu, Z.; Lu, C.; Rogers, J. A. Science 2008, 320, 507.
- (17) Ahn, J.-H.; Kim, H.-S.; Lee, K. J.; Jeon, S.; Kang, S. J.; Sun, Y.; Nuzzo, R. G.; Rogers, J. A. Science 2006, 314, 1754
- (18) Burns, S. E.; Cain, P.; Mills, J.; Wang, J.; Sirringhaus, H. MRS Bull. 2003, 28, 829.
- (19) Ng, T. N.; Wong, W. S.; Lujan, R. A.; Street, R. A. Adv. Mater. 2009, 21, 1.
- (20) Street, R. A.; Wong, W. S.; Ready, S. E.; Chabinyc, I. L.; Arias, A. C.; Limb, S.; Salleo, A.; Lujan, R. Mater. Today 2006, 9, 32.
- (21) Sekitani, T.; Noguchi, Y.; Zschieschang, U.; Klauk, H.; Someya, T. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2008, 105, 4976.

- (22) Moore, G. Electronics 1965, 38, ????.
- (23) Elizur, E.; Gelbart, D. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2002, 33, 1055.
- (24) Hiruma, K.; Suzuki, K.; Kasuga, O.; Ito, A.; Iwai, Y.; Aruga, H.; Yazaki, M.; Hashizume, A.; Okusa, T.; Nagasawa, H.; Nagasaka, M.; Usui, T. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2006, 37, 1583.
- (25) Shimoda, T. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2003, 34, 1178
- (26) Shimoda, T.; Morii, K.; Seki, S.; Kiguchi, H. MRS Bull. 2003, 28, 821827.
- (27) Carter, J.; Lyon, P.; Creighton, C.; Bale, M.; Gregory, H. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2005, 36, 523.
- (28) Kim, H.-J.; Chung, D.; Eyre, B. S. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2007, 38, 1515.
- (29) Kelley, T. W.; Muyres, D. V.; Baude, P. F.; Smith, T. P.; Jones, T. D. *Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc.* **2003**, *771*, ????. (30) Lee, S. T.; Suh, M. C.; Kang, T. M.; Kwon, Y. G.; Lee, J. H.; Kim,
- H. D.; Chung, H. K. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2007, 38, 1588.
- (31) Hirano, T.; Matsuo, K.; Kohinata, K.; Hanawa, K.; Matsumi, T.; Matsuda, E.; Matsuura, R.; Ishibashi, T.; Yoshida, A.; Sasaoka, T. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2007, 38, 1592.
- (32) Huitema, H. E. A.; Veenendaal, V. E.; Aerle, V. N.; Touwslager, F.; Hamers, J.; Lieshout, V. P. SID Digest 2008, ????.
- (33) Cleeves, J. M.; MacKenzie, J. D.; Kamath, A., 2007.
- (34) MacKenzie, J. D.; Cleeves, J. M.; Pavate, V.; Gudeman, C.; Zurcher, F.; Davis, M.; Good, D.; Rockenberger, J., 2008.
- (35) Chang, Y.-G.; Nam, S.-H.; Kim, N.-K.; Kook, Y.-H.; Kim, J.; Yoo, S.-S.; Kim, C.-D.; Kang, I.; Chung, I.-J. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2008, 39, 637.
- (36) Komatsu, Y.; Kawai, H.; Kodaira, T.; Hirabayashi, S.; Miyasaka, M.; Nebashi, S.; Shimoda, T. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2006, 37, 1830.
- (37) www.alientechnology.com/.
- (38) Smith, J. S.; Yeh, H.-J. J. Method for Fabricating Self-Assembling Microstructures; 1996.
- (39) Rogers, J. A.; Bao, Z.; Baldwin, K.; Dodabalapur, A.; Crone, B.; Raju, V. R.; Kuck, V.; Katz, H.; Amundson, K.; Ewing, J.; Drzaic, P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2001, 98, 4835.
- (40) Daniel, J. H.; Arias, A. C.; Wong, W. S.; Lujan, R.; Krusor, B. S.; Apte, R. B.; Street, R. A. SID Symp. Dig. Tech. Papers 2005, 36, 1630.
- (41) Jahinuzzaman, S. M.; Sultana, A.; Sakariya, K.; Servati, P.; Nathan, A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2005, 87, 023502.
- (42) Chwang, A.; Hewitt, R.; Urbanik, K.; Silvernail, J.; Rajan, K.; Hack, M.; Brown, J.; Lu, J.-P.; Sin, C.; Ho, J.; Street, R. A.; Ramos, T.; Moro, L.; Rutherford, N.; Tognoni, K.; Anderson, B.; Huffman, D. SID Int. Symp. Digest Tech. Paper 2006, 37, 1858.
- (43) Inoue, S.; Kawai, H.; Kanbe, S.; Saeki, T.; Shimoda, T. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 2002, 49, 1532.
- (44) Duggal, A.; Heller, C.; Shiang, J.; Liu, J.; Lewis, L. J. Display Technol. 2007, 3, 184.
- (45) Mackenzie, J. D.; Breeden, J.; Chen, J.; Hinkle, P.; Jones, E.; Menon, A.; Nakazawa, Y.; Shin, J.; Vo, V.; Wilkinson, M.; Yoshioka, Y.; Zhang, J. SID Tech. Dig., in press.
- (46) Liu, J.; Lewis, L. N.; Faircloth, T. J.; Duggal, A. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2006, 88, 223509.
- (47) Morton, O. Nature 2006, 443, 19.
- (48) Rommel, N.; Ken, Z. High-Efficiency CdTe and CIGS Thin-Film Solar Cells: Highlights and Challenges; Photovoltaic Energy Conversion, Conference Record of the 2006 IEEE 4th World Conference, 2006; p 317.
- (49) Street, R. A.; Graham, J.; Popovic, Z. D.; Hor, A.; Ready, S.; Ho, J. J. Non-Cryst. Solids 2002, 299-302, 1240.
- (50) Weisfield, R. L. IEDM Tech. Dig. 1998, 21.
- (51) Ng, T. N.; Lujan, R.; Sambandan, S.; Street, R.; Limb, S.; Wong, W Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 91, ????.
- (52) Ko, H. C.; Stoykovich, M. P.; Song, J.; Malyarchuk, V.; Choi, W. M.; Yu, C.-J.; Geddes Iii, J. B.; Xiao, J.; Wang, S.; Huang, Y.; Rogers, J. A. Nature 2008, 454, 748
- (53) Koetse, M.; Rensing, P.; Heck, G. v.; Meulendijks, N.; Kruijt, P.; Enting, E.; Wieringa, F.; Schoo, H. IEEE Sens. Appl. Symp. 2008,
- (54) Attili, S.; Cochrane, A.; McNeill, A.; Camacho-Lopez, M.; Moseley, H.; Ibbotson, S.; Samuel, I.; Ferguson, J.; British, J. Dermatology 2008, 159, ????
- (55) Wang, X.; Hofmann, O.; Das, R.; Barrett, E. M.; deMello, A. J.; deMello, J. C.; Bradley, D. D. C. Lab Chip 2007, 7, 58.
- Chang, J.; Liu, V.; Subramanian, V.; Sivula, K.; Luscombe, C.; Murphy, A.; Liu, J.; Frechet, J. J. Appl. Phys. **2006**, 100, 14506. (56)
- (57) Finkenzeller, K., RFID Handbook, 2nd ed.; Wiley: New York, 2003.
- (58) http://www.hitachi.co.jp/prod/mu-chip/.
- (59) Rogers, J. A.; Bao, Z.; Raju, V. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1998, 72, 2716.
- (60) Mackenzie, J. D. MRS Symposium O Tutorial, 2007.
- (61) FCC Regulations, P., Code of Federal Regulation, Title47(1), Rev. 2008

Materials and Applications for Large Area Electronics

- (62) Myny, K.; Steudel, S.; Vicca, P.; Genoe, J.; Heremans, P. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 93, 093305.
- (63) MacKenzie, J. D.; Pavate, V. RF and/or RF identification tag/device having an integrated interposer, and methods for making and using the same, 2007.
- (64) Glover, B.; Bhatta, H. In *RFID Essentials*; Reilly, O., Ed.; Sebastopol: 2006; p 77.
- (65) McCulloch, I.; Heeney, M.; Bailey, C.; Genevicius, K.; MacDonald, I.; Shkunov, M.; Sparrowe, D.; Tierney, S.; Wagner, R.; Zhang, W.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Kline, R. J.; McGehee, M. D.; Toney, M. F. *Nat. Mater.* **2006**, *5*, 328.
- (66) Yan, H.; Chen, Z.; Zheng, Y.; Newman, C.; Quinn, J. R.; Dotz, F.; Kastler, M.; Facchetti, A. *Nature* **2009**, ????.
- (67) Oh, J. H.; Lee, H. W.; Mannsfeld, S.; Stoltenberg, R. M.; Jung, E.; Jin, Y. W.; Kim, J. M.; Yoo, J.-B.; Bao, Z. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2009, 106, 6065.
- (68) Klauk, H.; Zschieschang, U.; Pflaum, J.; Halik, M. Nature 2007, 445, 745.
- (69) Ng, T. N.; Sambandan, S.; Lujan, R.; Arias, A. C.; Newman, C. R.; Yan, H.; Facchetti, A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2009, 94, 233307.
- (70) Sambandan, S.; Street, R. A. *IEEE Electron Device Lett.* 2009, *30*, 45.
- (71) Steudel, S.; Myny, K.; Arkhipov, V.; Deibel, C.; De Vusser, S.; Genoe, J.; Heremans, P. Nat. Mater. 2005, 4, 597.
- (72) Gundlach, D. J.; Royer, J. E.; Park, S. K.; Subramanian, S.; Jurchescu, O. D.; Hamadani, B. H.; Moad, A. J.; Kline, R. J.; Teague, L. C.; Kirillov, O.; Richter, C. A.; Kushmerik, J. G.; Richter, L. G.; Parkin, S. R.; Jackson, T. N.; Anthony, J. E. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 216.
- (73) McCulloch, I.; Heeney, M.; Chabinyc, M. L.; DeLongchamp, D.; Kline, R. J.; Cölle, M.; Duffy, W.; Fischer, D.; Gundlach, D.; Hamadani, B.; Hamilton, R.; Richter, L.; Salleo, A.; Shkunov, M.; Sparrowe, D.; Tierney, S.; Zhang, W. Adv. Mater. 2009, 21, 1091.
- (74) Sirringhaus, H.; Brown, P. J.; Friend, R. H.; Nielsen, M. M.; Bechgaard, K.; Langeveld-Voss, B. M. W.; Spiering, A. J. H.; Janssen, R. A. J.; Meijer, E. W.; Herwig, P.; de Leeuw, D. M. *Nature* **1999**, 401, 685.
- (75) Kline, R. J.; DeLongchamp, D. M.; Fischer, D. A.; Lin, E. K.; Richter, L. J.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Toney, M. F.; Heeney, M.; McCulloch, I. *Macromolecules* **2007**, *40*, 7960.
- (76) Kline, R. J.; McGehee, M. D.; Kadnikova, E. N.; Liu, J.; Frechet, J. M. J.; Toney, M. F. *Macromolecules* **2005**, *38*, 3312.
- (77) Zen, A.; Pflaum, J.; Hirschmann, S.; Zhuang, W.; Jaiser, F.; Asawapirom, U.; Rabe, J. P.; Scherf, U.; Neher, D. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2004, 14, 757.
- (78) Brown, P. J.; Thomas, D. S.; Kohler, A.; Wilson, J. S.; Kim, J.-S.; Ramsdale, C. M.; Sirringhaus, H.; Friend, R. H. Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 2003, 67, 064203/1.
- (79) Leeuw, D. M. d.; Simenon, M. M. J.; Brown, A. R.; Einerhand, R. E. F. Synth. Met. 1997, 87, 53.
- (80) Salleo, A.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Yang, M. S.; Street, R. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 81, 4383.
- (81) Chua, L. L.; Zaumseil, J.; Chang, J. F.; Ou, E. C. W.; Ho, P. K. H.; Sirringhaus, H.; Friend, R. H. *Nature* **2005**, *434*, 194.
- (82) Babel, A.; Jenekhe, S. A. Synth. Met. 2005, 148, 169.
- (83) Zen, A.; Saphiannikova, M.; Neher, D.; Asawapirom, U.; Scherf, U. *Chem. Mater.* 2005, 17, 781.
- (84) Bao, Z.; Lovinger, A. J. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 2607
- (85) Chang, J.-F.; Clark, J.; Zhao, N.; Sirringhaus, H.; Breiby, D. W.; Andreasen, J. W.; Nielsen, M. M.; Giles, M.; Heeney, M.; McCulloch, I. Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 2006, 74, 115318/1.
- (86) Chang, S.-C.; Bharathan, J.; Yang, Y.; Helgeson, R.; Wudl, F.; Ramey, M. B.; Reynolds, J. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1998, 73, 2561– 2563.
- (87) DeLongchamp, D. M.; Vogel, B. M.; Jung, Y.; Gurau, M. C.; Richter, C. A.; Kirillov, O. A.; Obrzut, J.; Fischer, D. A.; Sambasivan, S.; Richter, L. J.; Lin, E. K. *Chem. Mater.* **2005**, *17*, 5610.
- (88) Wang, G.; Swensen, J.; Moses, D.; Heeger, A. J. J. Appl. Phys. 2003, 93, 6137.
- (89) McCulloch, I.; Bailey, C.; Giles, M.; Heeney, M.; Love, I.; Shkunov, M.; Sparrowe, D.; Tierney, S. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 1381.
- (90) Yasuda, T.; Sakai, Y.; Aramaki, S.; Yamamoto, T. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 6060.
- (91) Crouch, D. J.; Skabara, P. J.; Lohr, J. E.; McDouall, J. J. W.; Heeney, M.; McCulloch, I.; Sparrowe, D.; Shkunov, M.; Coles, S. J.; Horton, P. N.; Hursthouse, M. B. *Chem. Mater.* **2005**, *17*, 6567.
- (92) Murphy, A. R.; Liu, J.; Luscombe, C.; Kavulak, D.; Frechet, J. M. J.; Kline, R. J.; McGehee, M. D. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 4892.
- (93) Ong, B. S.; Wu, Y.; Liu, P.; Gardner, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3378.
- (94) Zhao, N.; Botton, G. A.; Zhu, S.; Duft, A.; Ong, B. S.; Wu, Y.; Liu, P. *Macromolecules* **2004**, *37*, 8307.
- (95) Heeney, M.; Bailey, C.; Genevicius, K.; Shkunov, M.; Sparrowe, D.; Tierney, S.; McCulloch, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 1078.

- (96) DeLongchamp, D. M.; Kline, R. J.; Lin, E. K.; Fischer, D. A.; Richter, L. J.; Lucas, L. A.; Heeney, M.; McCulloch, I.; Northrup, J. E. Adv. Mater. 2007, 19, 833.
- (97) Gurau, M. C.; Delongchamp, D. M.; Vogel, B. M.; Lin, E. K.; Fischer, D. A.; Sambasivan, S.; Richter, L. J. *Langmuir* **2007**, *23*, 834.
- (98) Arias, A. C. J. Macromol. Sci., Part C: Polym. Rev. 2006, 46, 103.
 (99) Chabinyc, M. L.; Street, R. A.; Northrup, J. E. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 90, 123508.
- (100) Mathijssen, S. G. J.; Colle, M.; Gomes, H.; Smits, E. C. P.; de Boer,
 B.; McCulloch, I.; Bobbert, P. A.; de Leeuw, D. M. *Adv. Mater.* 2007, 19, 2785.
- (101) Veres, J.; Ogier, S. D.; Leeming, S. W.; Cupertino, D. C.; Khaffaf, S. M. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 199.
- (102) Knaapila, M.; Stepanyan, R.; Lyons, B. P.; Torkkeli, M.; Monkman, A. P. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2006, 16, 599.
- (103) Sirringhaus, H.; Wilson, R. J.; Friend, R. H.; Inbasekaran, M.; Wu, W.; Woo, E. P.; Grell, M.; Bradley, D. D. C. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2000, 77, 406.
- (104) Heeney, M.; Bailey, C.; Tierney, S.; Zhang, W.; McCulloch, I. Polybenzodithiophenes useful for semiconductors or charge transport materials in optical, electro-optical or electronic devices. 2004-963720 2005082525, 20041014, 2005.
- (105) Li, J.; Qin, F.; Li, C. M.; Bao, Q.; Chan-Park, M. B.; Zhang, W.; Qin, J.; Ong, B. S. Chem. Mater. 2008, 20, 2057.
- (106) Liu, J.; Zhang, R.; Sauve, G.; Kowalewski, T.; McCullough, R. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 13167.
- (107) Peet, J.; Kim, J. Y.; Coates, N. E.; Ma, W. L.; Moses, D.; Heeger, A. J.; Bazan, G. C. Nat. Mater. 2007, 6, 497.
- (108) Tsao, H. N.; D, C.; Andreasen, J. W.; Rouhanipour, A.; Breiby, D. W.; Pisula, W.; Mullen, K. Adv. Mater. 2009, 21, 209.
- (109) Lu, G.; Usta, H.; Risko, C.; Wang, L.; Facchetti, A.; Ratner, M. A.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 7670.
- (110) Risko, C.; Kushto, G. P.; Kafati, Z. H.; Bredas, J. L. J. Chem. Phys. 2004, 121, 9031.
- (111) Bürgi, L.; Turbiez, M.; Pfeiffer, R.; Bienewald, F.; Kirner, H.-J.; Winnewisser, C. Adv. Mater. 2008, 20, 2217.
- (112) Fong, H. H.; Pozdin, V. A.; Amassian, A.; Malliaras, G. G.; Smilgies, D.-M.; He, M.; Gasper, S.; Zhang, F.; Sorensen, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 13202.
- (113) Usta, H.; Facchetti, A.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 8580.
- (114) Becerril, H. A.; Miyaki, N.; Tang, M. L.; Mondal, R.; Sun, Y.-S.; Mayer, A. C.; Parmer, J. E.; McGehee, M. D.; Bao, Z. J. Mater. Chem. 2009, 19, 591.
- (115) Horowitz, G. Organic Electronics, Materials, Manufacturing and Applications; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2006.
- (116) Dodabalapur, A. Mater. Today 2006, 9, 24.
- (117) Horowitz, G.; Hajlaoui, M. E.; Hajlaoui, R. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 87, 4456.
- (118) Sirringhaus, H. Adv. Mater. 2005, 17, 2411.
- (119) Oberhoff, D.; Pernstich, K. P.; Gundlach, D. J.; Batlogg, B. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* **2007**, *54*, ????.
- (120) Tanase, C.; Blom, P. W. M.; Leeuw, D. M. d.; Meijer, E. J. *Physica Status Solidi A* 2004, 201, 1236.
- (121) Shaked, S.; Tal, S.; Roichman, Y.; Razin, A.; Xiao, S.; Eichen, Y.; Tessler, N. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 913.
- (122) Pasveer, W. F.; Cottaar, J.; Tanase, C.; Coehoorn, R.; Bobbert, P. A.; Blom, P. W. M.; Leeuw, D. M. d.; Michels, M. A. J. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2005**, *94*, 206601.
- (123) Salleo, A.; Chabinyc, M. L. Electrical and Environmental Stability of Polymer Thin-Film Transistors. In *Organic Electronics, Materials, Manufacturing and Applications*; Klauk, H., Ed.; Wiley–VCH: Weinheim, 2006.
- (124) Gu, G.; Kane, M. G.; Mau, S.-C. J. Appl. Phys. 2007, 101, 14504.
- (125) Wong, W. S.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Ng, T. N.; Salleo, A. Flexible Electronics: Materials and Applications; Springer: New York, 2009.
- (126) Chabinyc, M. L.; Salleo, A. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 4509.
- (127) Hamadani, B. H.; Gundlach, D. J.; McCulloch, I.; Heeney, M. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 91, 243512.
- (128) Bürgi, L.; Friend, R. H.; Sirringhaus, H. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 82, 1482.
- (129) Greenham, N. C.; Friend, R. H. Solid State Phys. 1996, 49, 1.
- (130) Hamadani, B. H.; Natelson, D. Proc. IEEE 2005, 93, 1306.
- (131) Hamadani, B. H.; Ding, H.; Gao, Y.; Natelson, D. Phys. Rev. B 2005, 72, 235302.
- (132) Ng, T. N.; Silveira, W. R.; Marohn, J. A. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2007, 98, 066101.
- (133) Necliudov, P. V.; Shur, M. S.; Gundlach, D. J.; Jackson, T. N. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 88, 6594.
- (134) Knipp, D.; Street, R. A.; Volkel, A. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 82, 3907.
- (135) Salleo, A.; Endicott, F.; Street, R. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2005, 86, 263505.

- (136) Salleo, A.; Street, R. A. J. Appl. Phys. 2003, 94, 471.
- (137) Schoonveld, W. A.; Oostinga, J. B.; Vrijmoeth, J.; Klapwijk, T. M. Synth. Met. 1999, 101, 608.
- (138) Žilker, S. J.; Detcheverry, C.; Cantatore, E.; de Leeuw, D. M. Appl. *Phys. Lett.* **2001**, *79*, 1124.
- (139) Rep, D. B. A.; Morpurgo, A. F.; Sloof, W. G.; Kapwijk, T. M. J. Appl. Phys. 2003, 93, 2082.
- (140) Ng, T. N.; Daniel, J. H.; Sambandan, S.; Arias, A. C.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Street, R. A. J. Appl. Phys. 2008, 103, ????.
- (141) Gomes, H. L.; Stallinga, P.; Dinelli, F.; Murgia, M.; Biscarini, F.; Leeuw, D. M. d.; Muccini, M.; Müllen, K. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2005, 16, 227.
- (142) Stallinga, P.; Gomes, H. L. Synth. Met. 2006, 156, 1316.
- (143) Libsch, F. R.; Kanicki, J. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1993, 62, 1286.
- (144) Jackson, W. B.; Marshall, J. M.; Moyer, M. D. Phys. Rev. B 1989, 39, 1164.
- (145) Crandall, R. S. Phys. Rev. B 1993, 43, 4057.
- (146) Powell, M. J.; Berkel, C. v.; Franklin, A. R.; Deane, S. C.; Milne, W. I. Phys. Rev. B 1992, 45, 4160.
- (147) Street, R. A.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Endicott, F.; Ong, B. J. Appl. Phys. 2006, 11, 114518.
- (148) Street, R. A. Phys. Rev. B 2008, 77, 165311.
- (149) Bürgi, L.; Richards, T.; Chiesa, M.; Friend, R. H.; Sirringhaus, H. Synth. Met. 2004, 146, 297.
- (150) Salleo, A.; Street, R. A. Phys. Rev. B 2004, 70, 235324.
- (151) Street, R. A.; Salleo, A.; Chabinyc, M. L. Phys. Rev. B 2003, 68, 085316-1.
- (152) Heeger, A.; Kivelson, S.; Schrieffer, J. R. Rev. Mod. Phys. 1988, 60, 781.
- (153) Northrup, J. E.; Chabinyc, M. L. Phys. Rev. B 2003, 68, 041202.
- (154) Pozorov, V.; Gershenson, M. E. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2005, 95, 016602.
- (155) Goldmann, C.; Krellner, C.; Pernstich, K. P.; Hass, S.; Gundlach, D. J.; Batlogg, B. J. Appl. Phys. 2006, 99, 034507.
- (156) Mathijssen, S. G. J.; Cölle, M.; Mank, A. J. G.; Kemerink, M.; Bobbert, P. A.; Leeuw, D. M. d. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2007**, *90*, 192104.
- (157) Gomes, H. L.; Stallinga, P.; Cölle, M.; Biscarini, F.; Leeuw, D. M. d. J. Non-Cryst. Solids **2006**, 352, 1761.
- (158) Kalb, W. L.; Mathis, T.; Haas, S.; Stassen, A. F.; Batlogg, B. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 90, 092104.
- (159) Chabinyc, M. L.; Endicott, F.; Vogt, B. D.; DeLongchamp, D. M.; Lin, E. K.; Wu, Y.; Liu, P.; Ong, B. S. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2006, 88, 113514.
- (160) Mathijssen, S. G. J.; kemerink, M.; Sharma, A.; Cölle, M.; Bobbert, P. A.; Janssen, R. A. J.; Leeuw, D. M. d. Adv. Mater. 2008, 29, 975.
- (161) Goldmann, C.; Gundlach, D. J.; Batlogg, B. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2006, 88, 063501.
- (162) Ng, T. N.; Marohn, J. A.; Chabinyc, M. L. J. Appl. Phys. 2006, 100, 084505.
- (163) Street, R. A.; Chabinyc, M. L.; Endicott, F. Phys. Rev. B 2007, 76, 045208.
- (164) Sze, S. M. *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, 2nd ed.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1981.
- (165) Chabinyc, M. L.; Lu, J.-P.; Street, R. A.; Wu, Y.; Liu, P.; Ong, B. S. J. Appl. Phys. 2004, 96, 2063.
- (166) Austin, M. D.; Chou, S. Y. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 81, 4431.

- (167) Haddock, J. N.; Zhang, X.; Zheng, S.; Zhang, Q.; Marder, S. R.; Kippelen, B. Org. Electron. 2006, 7, 45.
- (168) Schauer, F.; Novotny, R.; Nespurek, S. J. Appl. Phys. **1996**, *81*, 1244. (169) Krellner, C.; Haas, S.; Goldmann, C.; Pernstich, K. P.; Gundlach,
- D. J.; Batlogg, B. *Phys. Rev. B* **2007**, *75*, 245115. (170) Grinberg, A. A.; Luryi, S.; Pinto, M. R.; Schryer, N. L. *IEEE Trans.*
- Electron Devices 1989, 33, 1162.
- (171) Smits, E. C. P.; Mathijssen, S. G. J.; Hal, P. A. v.; Setayesh, S.; Geuns, T. C. T.; Mutsaers, K. A. H.; Cantatore, E.; Wondergem, H. J.; Werzer, O.; Resel, R.; Kemerink, M.; Kirchmeyer, S.; Muzavarov, A. M.; Ponomarenko, S. A.; Boer, B. d.; Blom, P. W. M.; Leeuw, D. M. d. *Nature* **2008**, *455*, 956.
- (172) Zhang, Y.; Petta, J. R.; Ambily, S.; Shen, Y.; Ralph, D. C.; Malliaras, G. G. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 1632.
- (173) Blanchet, G. B.; Loo, Y.-L.; Rogers, J. A.; Gao, F.; Fincher, C. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 82, 463.
- (174) Chabinyc, M. L.; Wong, W. S.; Paul, K. E.; Street, R. A. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 1903.
- (175) Arias, A. C.; Daniel, J.; Sambandan, S.; Ng, T. N.; Russo, B.; Krusor,
 B.; Street, R. A. *Proc. SPIE* 2008, 70540L, ????.
- (176) Rogers, J. A.; Bao, Z. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2002, 40, 3327.
- (177) Gans, B.-J. d.; Duineveld, P. C.; Schubert, U. S. Adv. Mater. 2004, 16, 203–213.
- (178) Kawase, T.; Shimoda, T.; Newsome, C.; Sirringhaus, H.; Friend, R. H. *Thin Solid Films* **2003**, 438–439, 279.
- (179) Shimoda, T.; Morii, K.; Seki, S.; Kiguchi, H. MRS Bull. 2003, 28, 821.
- (180) Volkman, S. K.; Molesa, S.; Mattis, B.; Chang, P. C.; Subramanian, V. In Inkjetted Organic Transistors Using a Novel Pentacene Precursor, Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc.; Fruehauf, N., Chalamala, B. R., Gnade, B. E., Jang, J., Eds.; 2003; p H11.7.
- (181) Paul, K. E.; Wong, W. S.; Ready, S. E.; Street, R. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 83, 2070.
- (182) Wong, W. S.; Ready, S.; Matusiak, R.; White, S. D.; Lu, J.-P.; Ho, J.; Street, R. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 80, 610.
- (183) Wong, W. S.; Ready, S. E.; Lu, J.-P.; Street, R. A. *IEEE Electron Devices Lett.* 2003, 24, 577.
- (184) Deegan, R. D.; Bakajin, O.; Dupont, T. F.; Huber, G.; Nagel, S. R.; Witten, T. A. *Nature* **1997**, *389*, 827.
- (185) Hu, H.; Larson, R. G. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 7090.
- (186) Gans, B.-J. d.; Schubert, U. S. Langmuir 2004, 20, 7789.
- (187) Salleo, A.; Arias, A. C. Adv. Mater. 2007, 19, 3540.
- (188) Arias, A. C.; Endicott, F.; Street, R. A. Adv. Mater. 2006, 18, 2900.
- (189) Sholin, V.; Carter, S. A.; Street, R. A.; Arias, A. C. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 92, ????.
- (190) Daniel, J. H.; Arias, A. C.; Krusor, B. S.; Lujan, R.; Street, R. A. ECS Trans. 2006, 3, 229.
- (191) Lukas Bürgi, M. T. R. P. F. B. H.-J. K. C. W. Adv. Mater. 2008, 20, 2217.
- (192) Osaka, I.; McCullough, R. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 1202-1214.

CR900150B